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Directors’ report

The directors submut therr report and the audited financial
statements of FKI ple for the year ended 31 March 2008

Acquisition of the Company by Melrose PLC

The acquisition of the Company by Melrose PLC was
completed on 1 July 2008 The acqusition of the entire 1ssued
share capital of the Company was effected by means of a
Scheme of Arrangement that was approved by the Company’s
shareholders on 28 May 2008 and was sanctioned by the
Court on 27 June 2008

Principal activities

The pnncipal activities and the development of the Group are
given mn the Operating and financial review on pages 4 to 6

Financial instruments

The Group’s financial nsk management objectives and
policies are discussed 1t the Operating and financial review on
pages4 to 6 The exposure of the Group to foreign currency
nisk, mterest rate nsk and hquidity nisk are set out i note 28 to
the financial statements

Dwidends

The directors recommend a final dividend on ordinary shares
11 respect of the year ended 31 March 2008 of 3 Op per share,
payable on 15 July 2008 to shareholders on the register on 27
June 2008, which with the intenm dividend paud on 22
February 2008 distnbutes a total of £26 4 mullion of retained
earnmgs

Directors

The names of the directors who have served during the year
are

Gordon Page — resigned 1 July 2008

Paul Heiden

Neil Bamford

Reg Gott — resigned | July 2008

Sur Michael Hodgkinson — resigned 1 July 2008
Charles Matthews — resigned 1 July 2008
Dawvid Pearl — resigned 1 July 2008

Rachard Case — resigned 1 July 2008
Directors’ interests

The interests of the directors (including their farmiy interests)
all of which are beneficial, i the share capital, share options
and the Long-Term Incentive Plan of the Company appear in
the Remuneration report on pages 7 to 18
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Powers of the directors

The directors are responsible for the management of the
business of the Company and may exercise all powers of the
Company subject to applicable legislation and regulation and
the Memorandum of Association,

At the 2007 Annual General Meeting the directors were given
the power to buy back a maximum number of 29,000,000
ordinary shares at a murumum price of 10 Op each The
maximum price was an amount equal to 105% of the average
mmuddle market quotations of the Company’s ordinary shares as
denved from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List
for the five busmess days immediately preceding the day on
whach such ordinary shares are contracted to be purchased
This power will expure at the earlier of the conclusion of the
2008 AGM or 9 August 2008

The Board

The Company during the year had a Chawman and a Chuef
Executive each having their own separate responsibilities
Essentially, the Chairman 1s responsible for the effective
workang of the Board and the Chief Executive 15 responsible
for all operational matters

The directors may at any tme appoint an additional director A
formal selection process 1s carned out, making use of external
agencies in the selection of suitable candidates where 1t
appears necessary or appropriate Upon the appointment of a
new director, relevant tramming 1s provided as required

Any director so appowmnted shall hold office until the next
Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible for
reappomtment at that meeting Following such appointment,
the Arucles of Association require each director to reture by
rotation and seek re<clecion at least every three years

Political and chantable donations

Dunng the year ended 31 March 2008 the Group contributed
£0 1 muthion (2007 £0 1 mulhion) in the UK for chantable

purposes There were no political donations dunng the year
(2007 £nl)

Research and development

Product development and innovation is a continuing, process
The Group’s businesses commat resources to rescarch and
development to assist them in securing their competitive
positions n their chosen markets




Employment policies

Compames within the Group have developed a wide range of
voluntary practices and procedures for employee involvement
approprate to thewr own circumstances and needs The Group
encourages this approach to providing information and
consultatton and believes that this promotes a better
understanding of the 1ssues facing the individual business mn
whuch the employee works It 1s the policy of the Group to
give full and far consideration to applications made by
disabled persons for job vacancies and promotions, where
particular job requirements are withun their ability and, where
possible, arrangements are made for the contimnng
employment of employees who have become disabled

Amendment of the Company’s Articles of
Association

The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended
by a spectal resolution at a general meeting of shareholders

Employee involvement and consultation

The directors attach great importance to good labour relations
and employee mvolvement and develepment The results for
the half year and financial year are discussed with semor
management and the opportumty 1s taken where possible to
mform them of Group developments The nature of the
Group’s actrvities places the responsibihty for employee
consultation with local management 1n a manner appropniate
to the particular ciroumstances of each business Several of the
busmnesses operate works councils for the purposes of
consultation and dissernunation of mformation Newsletters are
also used as a means of commumcating with employees

Payments to suppliers

Operating businesses are responsible for agreemg the terms
and conditions of thexr transactions with suppliers Payment 1s
made on these terms subject to the terms and conditions bemng
met by the suppher FKI plc, as a holding company, did not
have any amounts owng to trade crechtors at 31 March 2008

Significant agreements — change of control

There are no agreements that take effect, alter or termnate
upon a change of control of the Company following a takeover
bud, that are considered to be significant in terms of thewr
potential impact on the business of the Group as a whole on 1
July 2008
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Share capital

The following provides the additional information required for
shareholders as a result of the implementation of the
Takeovers Directive mto UK Law

At 31 March 2008, the Company’s 1ssued share capital
compnsed

Number Value
million £m
Ordmary shares of 10 Op 5883 588

The Company 1s not aware of any agreements between
shareholders that may result in restrictions on the transfer of
securities or voting rights

Significant shareholdings

On 27 June 2008 the Scheme of Arrangement was approved
by the court and from 1 July 2008, the Company’s enture share
capital 1s held by Melrose PLC

Auditors

A resolution to reappomt Emst & Young LLP as the Group’s
auditors wll be proposed at the Annual General Meeting

Directors’ statement as to disclosure of iInformation
to auditors

The directors who were members of the Board at the tune of
approving the Directors’ report are histed above Each of these
directors confirms that

. to the best of each director’s knowledge and behef there
18 no mformation relevant to the preparation of thewr
report of which the Company’s auditors are unaware,
and

. each director has taken all the steps a dwrector maght
reasonably be expected to have taken to be aware of
relevant audit mformation and to establish that the
Company’s auditors are aware of that information

Directors’ indemnities

Dunng the financial year the directors have enjoyed the
benefit of indemmnity insurance Inaccordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association directors are granted an
mdemmty from the Company n respect of habilities incurred
as a result of their office The indemmty extends to legal costs
mcurred i proceedings n which judgement 1s given n thewr
favour




Directars’ responsibilities

The drectors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and Group and parent Company financial staterments in
accordance with apphcable law and regulations

Company taw requires the directors to prepare Group and
parent Company financial statements for each financial year
Under that law the directors are required to prepare the Group
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union (“EU™) and have elected to prepare the
parent Company financial statements 1n accordance with UK
Accounung Standards

The Group financial statements are required by law and IFRSs
as adopted by the EU to present faurly the financial position
and performance of the Group, the Compames Act 1985
provides 1n relation to such financial statements that references
1n the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a
true and fair view are references to their achieving a fawr
presentation

The parent Company financial statements are required by law
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the parent
Company

In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial
statements, the directors are required to

. select suitable accounung policies and then apply them
consistently,

+  make judgements and estimates that are reasonabie and
prudent,

. for the Group financial statements state whether they
have been prepared 1n accordance with [FRSs as
adopted by the EU, and

. for the parent Company financial statements state
whether apphcable UK Accounting Standards have been
followed, subject 10 any material departures disclosed
and explained 1n the parent Company financial
statements

The directors are also responsible for maintaining proper
accounting records which disclose wath reasonable accuracy at
any ume the financial position of the Company and of the
Group, and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Comparues Act 1985 and Article 4 of the [AS
Regulation They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
uregulanties
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Under applicable law and regulation the directors are also
responsible for preparing a Duectors” report and
Remuneration report that comply with that law and those
regulations

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty
of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company’s website Legislanon 1n the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions

Events after the balance sheet date

On 22 Apnl 2008 the boards of Melrose PLC and FKi plc
announced that they had agreed the terms of a recommended
proposal whereby Melrose PLC would acquire the entire
issued and to be 1ssued share capital of FKI ple On 28 May
2008 FKI shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting
approved the proposed takeover of the Company by Melrose
PLC and also approved the Scheme of Arrangement On 27
May 2008 Melrose PLC shareholders also approved the
proposed takeover

The Court Meeting to sanction the Scheme of Arrangement
was held on 27 June 2008 The acquisition of FK1 plc by
Melrose PL.C was completed on 1 July 2008 and as a
consequence the Group was de-listed from the London Stock
Exchange

On 1 July 2008 the ultimate parent undertaking of the Group
became Melrose PLC, registered n the Umited Kingdom at
Precision House, Arden Road, Alcester, B49 6HN

Directors' responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge

e the financial statements, prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by
the European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial poisition and profit and loss of the
company and the undertakings included 1n the
consolidation taken as a whole, and

e the operating and financial review includes a far view of
the development and performance of the business and the
posiion of the company and the undertakings included in
the consclidation taken as a whole, together with a
descripuen of the pnncipal nsks and uncertamties they
face

By order of the Board
Neil Bamford Director

1 July 2008




Operating and financial review

Group tumover from continuing activities durng the penod
was £1,047 9 mihion (2007 £958 3 mmlhion) The merease
turnover comprised a sales increase from trading of £96 9
mulhon offset by an unfavourable currency translation effect of
£7 3 mallion

Operating profit before special items from continuing
activitres mcreased to £112 9 mulhion (2007 £86 4 mullion)
After adjusting for an unfavourable foreign exchange impact
of £0 8 nulhon operating profit before special stems grew by
31 6%

Special 1tems amounted to a loss of £20 5 million (2007 loss
of £3 2 mulhon) and included £10 1 mallion of costs 1n
connectton with the Melrose takeover and a further £3 5
mullion costs relating to the strategic review, abortive sale and
approach costs mcurred 1n the first half of the year In addition,
costs of £7 2 mullion relating to the closure and ranonalisation
of certain continuimng operations within Energy Technology
{£4 0 mulhon), Hardware (£2 7 mulhion) and Lifting Products
and Services (£0 5 m:llion) were mcurred Also, losses of £1 2
mulhion on the sale of a number of small cperations have been
meurred which have been offset by a £} 5 mulhon profit before
taxation on the sale of a number of surplus property assets

Net finance costs of contimung operations were £34 8 mullion
(2007 £26 8 mullion} and wncluded losses of £2 @ million
{2007 gawns of £5 1 mullion) arsing on farr value adjustments
to financial instruments

Net interest costs were £31 9 mullion (2007 £28 5 mullion),
the increase reflecting a combination of hugher net debt levels,
tugher European wmterest rates and increased borrowing costs
following the re-negotiation of Group borrowing facilities
These increases have been offset by lower net finance costs on
pension schemes and other post-retirement benefit schemes
which have reduced to £rul (2007 £3 4 mullion} as a result of
the much lower pension deficit

The Group’s effective tax charge on profits from continuing
operations before special items after net finance costs was
25 4% (2007 314%) A reconciliation of the actual total tax
charge to the standard mate¢ of corporation tax in the UK of
30% 15 set out 1 note 13 to the financial statements

For comparative purposes underiying operating profit based
on operating profit before special items after adjusung for the
operating profit before special items of discontinued
operations rose by 20 8% from £100 2 mulhon to £121 0
mulizon
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The loss attnbutable to the equity holders of the Company
amounted to £266 5 milhion (2007 profit of £46 4 mihon) and
basic loss per share was 45 4p (2007 earmngs 7 9p) The
dechine 1n performance was a result of an impairment loss
recorded on the FKI Logustex group of £314 1 mullion which
contmbuted a loss of 53 5p per share Adjusted earnings per
share of 11 3p (2007 8 7p) mmproved by 29 9% and was
calculated by dividing the operating profit/(loss) for the year
before special items, (profiv(loss) on sale of businesses,
reorgamsations, closures and impairments, profit/(loss) for the
year on property sales, strategic review and approach costs and
Melrose takeover costs), profit/(foss) on disposal of
discontinued operations, fair value gams/(losses) on financial
mstruments and exchange gams/{losses) included wathin
finance costs and income and taxation related to those itemns
by the weighted average number of shares in 1ssue during the
year

Financial risk management

FKI’s financial nsk management 1s based upon sound
economuc objectives and good corporate practice Denvative
and other financial nstruments are used to manage trading
exposures, labihties and assets under parameters laid down by
the Board The Group’s major hedging activities are to
mutigate the following nsks

(1) Cumrency transaction risks for trading exposures
denominated n other currencies

(u) Fair value and cash flow interest rate nsks associated with
the Eurobond

(u1)} Currency translation nsks of net assets 1n overseas
subsidianes

The Group has not used derivative financial instruments for
purposes other than for hedging 11s exposures

The Group adopted accounting standard 1AS 39 on | Apnil
2005, resulting n the recognution at far value of all denvative
financial instruments previously held off balance sheet under
UK GAAP To avoid ncome statement volatility, and where
such benefits outweigh the costs of comphance, the Group has
designated many of its economuc hedges as hedging
mstruments under IAS 39 However, for certain effective
economc hedging relationships, such hedge accounting
treatment 15 not permutted under IFRS Where hedge
accounting 1s not aclueved, fair value movements on
denvatives are recorded 1n the consolidated income staternent,
which could give nse to earmings volatihty




It 1s the Group’s policy to maintain a range of matunity dates
for 1ts borrovangs and to refinance them at the appropnate
time so as to reduce refinancing nsk. In May 2008, the
Company entered mto an agreement to extend the matunty of
1ts £120 milhion revolving credit facility from 1 Apnl 2009 to
2 December 2009 All other terms and conditions remain
unchanged except that the interest margin nses from 175bps to
200bps for the penied 1 October 2008 to 1 April 2009 and
225bps thereafier

The treasury function provides the Group with cash and nsk
management services by mvesting surplus funds and
managing and reducing financial nsks purely 1n relation to
underlying trading transactions It does not operate as a profit
centre and no speculative transactions are permitted

Counterparty credat limats are established for all banks used by
the Group, taking account of the credit standing of each bank.
The Group does not hold or 1ssue denvative financial
istruments for trading purposes

A large proportion of the Group’s trading 1s carned out withun
the domestic temtory of each busmess umt Consequently,
foreign exchange iransaction exposures, which anse when
sales and purchases are made by a business umt 1n a currency
other than its own functional currency, are generally not
sigruficant The Group's policy is to hedge forward foreign
exchange exposures as soon as comrmtment has been given to
the underlying transactions

The results of foreign subsidianes are translated into sterling at
the average rates of exchange for the period concemed As this
conversion has no impact on the cash flow of the Group, the
Group chooses not to hedge 1ts foreign subsidianes’ earmings,
other than any dividends which are dealt with as transaction
exposures

The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are translated into
Sterling at the closing exchange rates Any gains or losses on
the translation of these balance sheets into Sterling are
recorded m reserves aganst the gamns and losses ansing on
foresgn currency borrowings that are effective net investment
hedges

Pensions

The Group’s 1AS 19 appregate pensions deficit in respect of
all pensions and post-reurement plans decreased to £22 9
mullion as at 31 March 2008 from £108 8 nullion a year
earhier The deficit reduction 1s pnimanly the result of
increased discount rates reducing Liability valuations and UK
scheme contnbutions which continue to anucipate a ten year
deficit funding penod The most sigmficant element of this
deficit relates to the Group’s mam UK Scheme which has
decreased from £72 0 rullion to £3 8 mulhon as of 31 March
2008 The valuation of thus deficit 1s based on the full actuanal
valuations of 31 December 2005 updated at 31 March 2008 by
independent actuartes

Dunng the year a further 10% of the assets of this scheme
were transferred mto bonds to more closely match the
matunng hiabihity profile
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FKI continues to take achion to manage its exposure to North
Amencan retiree medical habilities and the liability a1 31
March 2008 had reduced by £12 0 rrullion to £ 21 2 mullion
from £ 33 2 mullion at 31 March 2007

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group has adopted a standard process for the
identification, assessment, treatment, momtonng and reporting
of nsk. Thus process helps support business objectives by
linking into business strategy, identifying and reacting to
emerging nisks and developing cost effective solutions to nsk
exposures

Some 46 6% of sales are to customers in North Amenca and
the Group 1s therefore particularly affected by economuc
conditions in North Amenca However, the diverse nature of
the Group’s products, services and customers help mitigate the
effects of changes m pohtical and economuc nsk on the
demand that the Group expenences

The Group’s products and manufacturning processes require a
vanety of raw matenals mchuding steel, copper and zinc Any
mncrease or volatiity 1n the price of these commodities and
energy together with shortages in supply can affect the
Group’s performance The diversity of operations both n
terms of product area and geography reduces the dependence
on any single item and supplier Purchasing policies and
practices take into account and seek to mutigate such nsks
where pracuicable

The Group aperates a number of pension schemes as detailed
in note 33 to the accounts, the most significant of whach 1s the
mamn UK scheme which had a pre-tax deficit of £3 8 mullion at
31 March 2008 The funding of that scheme 15 75% by leng
dated bonds and 25% by equuties The Group 15 exposed to
various funding nsks principally mcreased longewity of
members and poor performance of equity investments which
could result m increased cash contnbutions by the Group to
the schemes

In addition to the above, the Group’s involvement and
operating 1n global markets creates an exposure to other nisk
factors that are both external and internal to the Group These
risks include but are not hmited o failure to comply wath
legislative and regulatory requirements ncluding
environmental and liigation nsk, equipment failures, business
conumuty and the actions of customers and competiors The
Group has, as previously descnbed, implemented nsk controls
and loss mitigation plans but cannot give absolute assurance
that such procedures will be effective wn wdentifying or
controlling each of the operational nsks faced by the Group

Lifing Products and Services

Tumover mncreased by £17 9 milhion to £452 1 muilion (2007
£434 2 muilion) as a result of a £25 4 mullion increase o
trading, representing a 5 8% increase offset by an
unfavourable £7 5 mullion currency translauon effect
Operating profit before special items rose to £67 5 mullion
(2007 £57 7 m:hon} as a result of the combmation of lugher
output and continuing improvements m manufactunng
productivity, offset by an unfavourable currency translation
effect of £1 5 mullion




Market conditions in the primary markets served by the group
reman favourable with o1l, gas, mumng and recychng and
mdustnal construction activity buoyant 1n the majority of
global markets, although some softerung 1n Canada has been
evident with a reaction to hugh ng rental rates and decreases in
the price of natural gas

Te ensure improved product availability i line with customer
expectanion, additional capacity 1s being wnstalled which wall
mcrease output capability, inprove productivity and support
long term growth trends i mayor markets The major
improvements i manufacturing performance evident in the
second half of the last financial year have been mamtained and
continued nvestment in lean manufactunng mnatives wilt
continue to mcrease the manufacturing cutput capability
requrred to support demand patterns

The group continues to pursue 1its strategy of geographical
expansion and dunng the pertod Crosby has invested in
additional resources to develop its markets in the Middie East,
Russia and North and South Africa Furthermore, plans for
establishing machiming and assembly centres for blocks and
sheaves m Chuna and Europe are well advanced wath start up
expected early in the next financial year

Sustained hugh scrap paper and steel scrap pnices along with
hugh leveis of activity continue to dnve excellent performance
at Hamrs, the group’s manufacturer of scrap compacuon,
shearing and shredder equpment, with forecast demand trends
for recycled product continuing to be positive

Energy Technology

Turnover ncreased by £84 8 mulhion to £429 2 mullion (2007
£344 4 mlhon) as a result of a £77 8 rmullion increase in
trading, representing a 22 6% increase and a favourable £7 0
mullion currency translation effect. Operating profit before
special items rose 93% to £46 7 nullion (2007 £24 2 mullion)
as a result of the igher activity levels

Demand for turbogenerators continues to be driven by the
strength of global demand for power generator equipment
from utithives, industrial companies and the o1l and gas sector
Additionally, two sigmficant orders totalling circa £37 1
mulhion have been secured for refurbishment of nuclear power
station generators i Eastern Europe

The group’s manufacturer of smaller sized generators, Marell
Moton, continues to follow 1ts strategy of focusing on the
supply of three core products, altemators, large motors and
cxplosion-proof motors wito the key market sectors of manne,
hydroelectne, cogeneration and petrochermical Demand
continues to respond and order mtake rose by 14% compared
to the same pencd last year

The group’s speciahist Traction refurbishment business has
had an ouistanding year and successfully completed the
delivery of the largest of the two mayor contracts 1t secured last
year On 12 November the Group acquired the business and
assets of Hunslet-Barclay for £2 3 multhon Hunslet-Barclay
specialises in muluple unit and coach refurbishment and the
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acquisiion will allow Brush Traction to offer its customers
solutions for both locomotive and coach work whilst
providing a strategically important site 1n Scotland to better
serve the Scottish rail industry

Hardware

Turnover for the Hardware group decreased by 7 3% to
£166 6 million (2007 £179 7 mulhon) The reduction
compnses a £6 3 million trading decrease and £6 8 mullion
adverse exchange translation effect Operating profit before
special items decreased sharply to £6 4 mullion (2007 £167
mullion)

The US housing market, which generates circa 70% of Truth’s
window hardware sales, continues to dechine and official
figures mdicate that there was a decline of 24% n the financial
year compared to the previous year However, the impact of
these reductions has been partially offset by continued market
share gains whuch are a result of the combination of design
mnvestment, techmcal excellence, production flexibility,
product quality and JIT delivery During the year Truth’s
revenue per housing start increased by 13%

The group’s Hickory operations have had an extremely
difficult year, with more disruptions caused by lengthy delays
n the integration of business systems wiuch has resuited in
signuficantly lugher operating costs w the penod These lugher
operating costs combmed with margin pressures as a result of
raw matenal costs increases have resulted in sigruficantly
lugher losses being incurred in the business

Discontinued Operations

The tradmg results for FKI Logstex have been disclosed
within discontinued operations following the Board’s decision
to dispose of the Logistex businesses Tumover in the year
reduced from £372 6 mullion to £315 2 mulhon The reduction
compnses a £55 8 mullion trading reduction and £1 6 nulhion
adverse exchange translation impact Operating profit before
special itemns of £8 1 mulion (2007 £14 2 mulhion) was
substantially reduced from last year as a consequence of the
15 0% reduction in trading activity

In the year ended 31 March 2007, discontinued operations
mcluded Certex SpA Tumover 1n the year ended 31 March
2007 for Certex SpA amounted to £3 { mullion and operating
loss before specral 1tems was £0 4 muthon

Special itemns of £0 5 million (2007 £6 3 rmullion) were
incurred 1n the year, net finance ncome amounted 10 £1 4
rullion (2007 £0 8 mullion} and taxation charges were £2 4
mullion (2007 credit £0 2 sullion) Followmg the decision to
dispose of the Logistex busmnesses an impawrment loss of
£314 1 mullion was recorded as a consequence of wrting
down the net assets to far value less costs to sell and m
accordance with IFRS has been applied against goodwall Post
tax gains on the disposal and closure of busmesses of £2 9
malhon (2007 loss £1 2 mullion) have been recorded which
represent net additional proceeds from prior years’ disposals
which had previously been anticipated to be urecoverable




Remuneration report

Composition and Role of the Remuneration Commuttee

The Remuneration Comrmuttee 1s responsible for formulating executive remuneration policy and for determining the
remuneration of the executive directors and certan senior executives

Its members are the non-executive directors as shown mn Table 1, together wath therr attendance at meetings of the
Remuneration Commuttee during 2007/08

Table 1, Remuneration Commuttee membership and attendance in 2007/08

23 May 5 June 22 November 26 March
Commuttee member 2007 2007 2007 2008
Mr R I Case {Chairman) Attended Attended Artended Attended
Sir Michael Hodglknson A Aftended - Aftended Attended
Mr C L Matthews " Attended Attended Attended Attended
Mr D J Pearl Attended Attended Attended Attended

All of the above served on the Remuneratton Commuttee throughout the year, as imdicated, i Table 1 Al of the non-executive
drrectors including the Company Chasrman are considered by the Company to be independent

The Company Chairman attended the Commuttee by invitation

Mr Heiden 1s normally mwvited to attend meetings as an adviser to the Commmuttee He was not present when lus own
remuneration was bemg determuined Dunng 2007/08 the Commuttee recerved information from Mercer Human Resources
(TSR monitormng), and Hewntt Associates (remuneratton policy and market data) Hewatt also provided administration services
to the Group Pension Scheme and Plan Mr Heiden appomted Hewatt Assocrates as adwvisers in 2004/05 Mercer Human
Resources was appointed by the Remuneration Commuttee in 1998 Dunng 2006/07 Hewtt Associates was formally appoimnted
as adviser to the Commttee Hewitt Associates continued to act as advisers to the Cluef Executive Should conflict of interest
anse for Hewitt m thus dual advisory role, the Chief Executive will appoimnt hus own alternative adviser

Slaughter & May also advised the Commuttee in the year 1n relation to the consequences for share-based incentive plans and
severance arrangements 1n the event of a change in control of the Company

Executive remuneration policy
The Remuneration Commuittee's objectives are to ensure that the Company 15 able to
. attract, retain and motvate hugh calibre people, and

. align the interests of the executive directors and semor executives with those of shareholders by rewarding executive
directors and certan semor executives according to the overall performance of the individual businesses and Group The

Group reviewed its remuneration policy in 2004/05 and introduced many best practices, particularly with regard to annual
and long-term mncentives

The Group's remuneration policy 1s

. setting base salanes at the appropriate market median,

. 50% of total remuneration to be vanable, for on target performance,

. a balance between short and long term vanable remuneration,

. one third of annual incentives paid as deferred shares that can be matched if a ROIC™ target 15 achieved,
. long term mcentives are a combination of option grants and/or performance shares

Under thus policy, on target performance 1s capable of delivenng around 50% of total remuneration i the form of vanable
remuneration Thas 15 achueved through the annual performance related bonus scheme and long-term mncentives

(1) ROIC 15 defined as operattng profit adjusted for exceptional tems divided by total caprtal invested in the business
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Basic salary and benefits

Basic salary 1s reviewed annually having regard to market practices for sumlar executive positions 1 a comparable group of
companies matnly n the engineenng sector and supported by information and advice from independent external consultants

A median based salary policy was adopted 1 2005 when 1t was considered that the former “lower-quartile” pohicy impaired the
Company’s ability to attract and retain high calibre executives

For most roles the comparator group was the engineering and machinery sector However, for the roles of Cluef Executive and
Group Fiance Director a broader range of comparators, mecluding some outside of the engineenng and machinery sector, are
used to help determine competitive base salanes Comparative data and information was provided by Hewtt Associates
Executive directors also receive additional taxable benefits, namely the provision of a fully expensed company car (or an
allowance in lieu thereof), medical msurance and disability insurance and additional Iife assurance cover where not provided by
the pension scheme or plan

Performance appraisal

The Company has a structured performance appraisal process for 1ts executive directors and executtve management The

outcome from apprassal nfluences decisions on salary progression and helps to 1dentify individual and collective tramung and
development needs

Annual performance-related bonus schemes

The Company operates an annual performance-related bonus scheme for executive directors and other schemes for certain
Senior executives

Executive Directors’ Bonus Scheme

The Chuef Executive and Group Fiance Director participate in a bonus scheme based upon budgeted pre-tax profits of the
Group Mr Gott, Group Engmeenng Durector/MD FKI Logistex participated m a scheme based partly upon budgeted pre-tax
profit of the Group and partly on the profit and operatung cash flow of FKI Logistex For 2008/09 Mr Gott’s bonus will be
based upon pre-tax profits of the Group, as for other executive directors

Mr Gott wall recerve a transaction incentive if the sale of FKI Logistex 1s achieved 1n accordance wath the terms agreed by the
Board

Management Incentive Compensation Plan

Other sentor executives participated 1n a bonus scheme based upon business unit profit, operating cash flow and achievement of
personal objectives For 2008/09 these sentor executives will participate 1n a similar scheme but wath the addition of capaital
employed expressed as a function of sales Thus change s to incentivise generation and conservaton of cash

Executive Management Bonus Scheme

A small group of semior executives m Headquarter roles participate in a bonus scheme based upon Group profit and personal
objectives

For executive directors a performance related bonus of 25% of salary 1s payable for achieving a tngger pomt of Target profit
less 10% budgeted operating profit, after interest but before special stems, amortisation and tax The bonus increases on a
straight line pro rata basis from 25% to 50% for achieving between the tngger point and 100% of Target profit The bonus may

increase further on a straight hne pro rata basis from 50% to 100% for achieving 100% of Target profit plus 10% of budgeted
operating profit

Followmng Board approval of reasonable adjustments to Target profit, the Company’s external audniors check that the
calculation of bonuses for the executive directors adheres to the scheme rules governing such calculations

The rules of the bonus scheme were reviewed i 2007/08 to take account of the ABI’s updated guidelines on executive
remuneration — policy and praciice The rules now make provision for the “claw-back” of bonus if performance 15 subsequently
found to have been significantly mus-stated Participation in the Deferred Bonus Plan was suspended at the tme that bonuses
were paid in 2007 because an informal offer for the Group created a “closed period” dunng which shares could not be
purchased for executive directors and other semor executives

When the informal offer was withdrawn, executives were mvited to participate in the Plan on a voluntary basis for 2007/08
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For those taking part in 2007/08, one-third of post-tax cash bonus for executive directors was exchanged for deferred shares If
the Company’s level of ROIC reaches an average of 10% over the following three years the deferred shares will be matched
one-for-one Dividends are patd on deferred shares. This plan 1s designed to align executive directors” interests more closely
with the long-term mterests of shareholders and provides a mechanism that encourages executive directors to grow their
personal shareholding in the Company A sumilar scheme exists for a small number of semor executives but with reduced levels
of matchung  Executive dwrectors are now encouraged to accumulate a shareholding of at least one times basic salary over a four
year perod

The Remuneration Commuttee has the discretion to consider corporate performance on environmental, social and governance
(ESG) 1ssues when setting the remuneration of executive directors The Commuttee has satisfied itself that ESG nisks are not
raised by the incentive structure for senior management.

Long-term incentive plan

Long-term incentives were provided through a combmation of executive share options and performance shares Each element
of the long-term incentive may vest independently of the other Executive directors can be awarded the equivalent of up to two
times annual salary in options and up to one tumes annual salary in performance shares, determuned on an individual basis by the
Remuneration Commuttee Details of actual grants can be found n tables on pages 15 to 17

Share options

The practice 1s to grant options within a penod of six weeks following the announcement of the Company’s preliminary and/or
mtenim results

The share option element 1s granted at the average price of FKI plc ordinary shares over five dealing days before the grant date
and are normally required to be held for a munumum of three years before they are capable of exercise If gpuions fail to vest at
the thurd anniversary they lapse Options that vest at the thurd anniversary remain live until the tenth anmversary of granting
Options vest against a level of Earmings per Share (EPS) For grants made in 2007 no options vest for an EPS less than RPI +
12% over the three year measurement peried For EPS at or greater than RPI + 12%, options vest on a straight-line basis as
llustrated i the table below

Earnings per share growth 1s considered to be an appropnate measure of the Company’s underlying performance, as it requires
that there should be a demanding improvement 1 the Company’s performance before scheme participants can benefit from an
increase n the share price The assessment as to whether performance conditions have been met 1s calculated by the Secretary
to the Remuneration Commuttee ardl independently venfied by the Remuneration Comnuttee, and, where appropnate, advice 1s
obtamned from an external independent firm of Chartered Accountants

Eamngs per share 1s defined as the Company’s headline earmings per share, as calculated 1n accordance with the principles set
out n the Statement of Investment Practice No 1 *“The Defimtion of IIMR Headhne Earnmgs™ 1ssued by the Institute of
Investment Management and Research [IMR Headline earnings are calculated by excluding from the reported results any
mecome statement items of a non-trading or capital nature

Option grants made 1 2007/08

RPI + EPS growth over a three year penod Percentage of the opton grant that vests
Below RPI + 12% Nil
RPI +12% 25
RPI + 15% 50
RPI + 18% 75
RPI+21% 100
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Performance shares

If ordinary shares are acquired by the Company to ulimately satisfy grants that vest, these shares are held 1n trust. There are two
performance conditions for each grant of performance shares Fifty per cent of a grant may vest against Total Shareholder
Return (TSR) and the remamung 50% may vest agamst return on mvested capital (ROIC) Performance shares that fail to vest at
the thurd anmiversary of grant automatically lapse Accrued dividends are paid on any performance shares that vest.

For performance shares linked to TSR, no shares vest for a TSR performance below the 50th percentile For a TSR performance
at or above the 50th percentile performance shares vest on a straight-line basis as lustrated w the table below:

FKI pic TSR performance Perceniage of the TSR-related performance shares that vest
Below median - T Nil
Equal to the median 30
Equal to or above the §0th percentile - R ' 100

For performance shares linked to ROIC, no shares vest for a three-year average ROIC of less than 8% For a three-year average
ROIC performance above 8%, performance shares vest on a stramght-line basts as illustrated wn the table below

Averaged ROIC over a three vear performance penod Percentage of the ROIC-related performance shares that vest
Below 8% Nil
At 8% 40
AL 9% 60
At 10% 80
At 11% and above 100

Former long-term mcentive plan

All executive options granted from July 1996 onwards may only be exercised subject to a performance condition that the
Group's growth 1n earmngs per share, as defined above, must exceed the UK retail pnce index by 9% or more over a three year
peniod, subject to retesting 1n subsequent years from a rolling base Retesting was removed from the former executive option
scheme for options granted after Apnl 2004

The level of vesting of awards under the former LTIP 1s determuned by performance of the Company’s Total Shareholder
Return (TSR) against a comparator group of all compantes whuch on the date of grant are constituent comparues of the former
Engineening and Machnery sector as determmed by the FTSE Actuanes Industry Classification Commuttee The graph below
shows the Company’s TSR performance compared with that of the comparator group

No awards vest for below median performance and 50% of an award will vest for median performance Full vesting occurs only
at upper quartile performance, and 75% of an award wall vest for performance above the median but below upper quartile
Accrued dividends on vested awards are paid to the executives pending transfer of the shares into the name of the respective
participant The performance condition 1s Total Shareholder Return, as illustrated in the graph below, as thus was considered 1o
be the best means of ahgning the interests of directors with shareholders by requinng supenor total shareholder return

A table giving full details of the directors’ options, LTIP shares and performances shares granted under the new and former
plans and exercised during the year under review 1s shown on pages 15 to 17

Total Shareholder Return

FXI plc —————— FTSE All-Share Engincering and Machinery Sector Index
£350 —
£300 —
£250 —
£200 —
£150 —)
£100 —
£50 —
£0 I 1 | ! 1

31 March 03 31 March 04 31 March 05 31 March 06 31 March 07 31 March 08
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Table 2. TSR monitoring awards peer group 2004/08

AGA Foodservice'® Halma® Rotork
Bodycote Internattonal Henlys Group® Sentor
Castings Hill and Spith® Severfield-Rowen
Charter M1 Spirax-Sarco
Cookson Group® Kidde®™ Stanelco”
Dommck Hunter™ Melrose'? . Tomkins®@
Enodis Manganese Bronze Holdmng® Vitec Group
Fenner Metalrax Group Werr Group
FKI Molms®

Foseco™? Morgan Crucibte®

Notes

(1} Mohns dropped out of the Index i December 2004 and has not been included 1n subsequent peer groups

(2) Hilland Sruth entered the peer group tn 2004

(3) Henlys Group delsted in July 2004 and have been excluded fom the peer groups

{4)  Kudde was acquired by United Technologies Corporation m May 2005 and bas been excluded from the peer groups

(5} Dommuck Hunter was acquired by Parker Hannifin Corporation. Trading ceased in Decernber 2005 Domnick Hunter has been excluded from the peer groups

(6) After the reclassification to the FTSE indices in January 2006 the fallowing comp were rechssified out of the FTSE engineening and machunery ndex Aga Foodservice
Cookson Group Halma Morgan Cracible and Tomkins

(7) Foseco, Metrose nd Stznekco were added to the FTSE engineering and machinery index 1n 2006 so entered the peer group tn 2006

(8) Manganese Bronze Holding was added to the FTSE engimeenng and machunery mdex 1n 2007 so entered the peer group 1n 2007

(9) Staneko was reclassified out of the FTSE engineenng and machinery index dunng 2007 and was excluded from the peer group n 2007
(10) Foseco was taken over by Cookson Group and delisted on 4 Apnl 2008 Foseco will be excluded from the peer groups gong forward.

Inland Revenue Approved Save-As-You-Earn share option scheme

Ttus scheme was approved by shareholders m 1997 and was open to all UK employees who had completed six months’ service
and who entered into an approved savings contract for a term of three or five years The maxamum amount that could be saved
was £250 per month, and the total savings (including interest} at the end of the term are available to purchase shares at 0% of
therr market value shortly before the start of the savings contract Executive directors could participate n this scheme on the
same terms as all other employees

No grants of SAYE options were made under the scheme duning 2007/08
Recrutment of new directors

Executive directors

The Normunations Commuttee review and approve a recruttment specification. The Director of Group HR advises the
Commuttee on availability of internal candidates 1f no internal candidate exists, a recruitment consultant or head-hunter may be
engaged depending on the nature of the assignment The Cheef Executive selects a shorthst of candidates from those presented
by the recrustment consultant A member of the Nommations Commuttee jons with the Chief Executive to select from the
shortlist of candidates The Nomnations Commuitiee recommend an appointment and the Remuneration Commttee

recommends an appropnate remuneration package The Board raufies the appomtment The recruitment process 18 concluded
by the Chuef Executive

Non-executive directors

The Nomnations Commutiee agree a recruitment specificauon The Company Chairman leads the recruitment process that may
mvelve an external search firm The Company Chauman selects a shorthst of candidates for interview with the Chief Executive
and Nominations Commttee The Nommations Commmttee then make a recommendation for appowntment to the Board

Non-executive Chairman

The Nomuinations Commuttee agree a recruitment specification They appoint one of their members to lead the recruitment
process A search firm may be engaged to assist with the recnutment process A shorthist of candidates 15 presented to the Chief

Executive who interviews potential candidates, and refines the shortlist The Nomunations Commuttee make the final selection
and recommendation to the Board
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Service centracts

It 15 the Company’s policy that all executive directors have one-year rolling service contracts with a one-year notice peniod
However, 1 order to attract high calibre recrunts, the Remuneration Commuttee may exercise 1ts discretion to offer newly
recruited executive directors an metial two-year notice pertod which reduces to one year Save as histed below, there are no
express provisions for compensation payable upon early termination of the executive directors’ contracts and at the date of

termunanon, other than payments due during the notice penod

The standard terms withun service agreements were reviewed to ensure they were comphiant with ABI revised gmdelines
published 1n December 2006 Thus review has resulted in mtigation bemng apphied with any new service agreements on

appomtment

In the case of Mr Heiden, 1n the event of termnation of hus service contract by an acquining company after a change of control,
there 1s provision n hus service contract for a payment of hquidated damages equivalent to one year’s pay and contractual

benefits without deduction for nutigation and/or accelerated receipt

The contract dates and notice pertods for the executive directors dunng the year were as follows

MName of drector Date of contract Motice penod
P Heiden 16 December 2002 One year
R1 Gott 7 Apnl 2005 One year
N Bamford 2 June 2004 One year
The non-executrve directors do not have service contracts The dates of the current non-executive directors’ appomntments are as
follows

Non-executive director Appotntment date Date of last re-election
Sir Michael Hodgkinson . 1 April 2000 I August 2006
Mr C L Matthews o e 11 September 2003 24 July 2007
Mr G F Page CBE - 1 August 2004 20 July 2005
Mr D J Pearl 27 September 2005 1 August 2006
MrR I Case CBE 7 February 2006 1 August 2006

Succession planning

In 2004, the Company introduced a succession planming process for s executive directors and senior executive management as
part of 1ts sk management process The Remuneration Comrmuttee reviewed the 2006 executive succession plan at 1ts meeting
mn November 2007 and recommended actions to address succession 1ssues 1n a small number of Group businesses The
Executive Comnuttee has continued to manage the development of potential successors The executive development
programme continued tn 2007 with the help of Ashndge m the UK and Babson College, Boston MA, in the USA A Leadershup
Development Programme, talent management process and 360 degree appraisal were all introduced in the year to underpin

effective succession
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Pensions

With the exception of Mr Heiden, executive directors are members of the FKI Group Pension Scheme, a defined benefit
scheme with a normal retirement age for directors of 60 years Mr Gott 1s also a special member of the FKI Group Pension Plan
nto whach four mstalments of £45,000 have been paid in lieu of hus former Unfunded Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme
("“UURBS™

The Scheme’s main features, n respect of executive directors, are

(a) a cash benefit on death 1n service of four times annual rate of the highest average basic salary (restncted to the earmngs cap
where 1t applies} during any three consecutive years withun the ten years before the member’s date of death Additional life

assurance cover 1s purchased where necessary to provide death i service benefits relating to salary above the notional earmings
cap,

(b} pensions payable n the event of 11l health,

() pensions for dependants on a member’s death generally equal to half the member’s prospective retirement pension at 60 on
death m service, or half the member’s pension entitlement on death 1n retirement,

(d) member contmbutions are 7% of basic salary (restncted to the notional earmings cap where 1t applies)
ary

There are funded unapproved pension amangements to increase pension benefits where, because of pension scheme limitations
{(including those resulting from the notional earmngs cap), these cannot be paid n total from the FKI Group Pension Scheme
Such arrangements apply to Mr Gott.

In lteu of participation m the FKI Group Pension Scheme, Mr Heiden recerved contnbutions into a funded unapproved
retirement benefit scheme equivalent to 50% of us basic salary Details of thus are shown mn the table headed “Directors’
emoluments” on page 14

Detals of the directors’ pension benefits dunng the year under review are shown on page 15

Non-executive directorships

The Company beheves that there are sigruficant benefits to the mdividual and the Company from executive directors accepting
non-executive directorships n other organisations

Each executive director may normally accept one non-executive directorshup provided that 1t does not conflict with the

Company’s interests and 1s approved by the Board Fees from any external directorshup may be retamed by the director
concerned

Mr Heiden held one non-executive position with Urnted Utilities ple Details of fees recerved by um in 2007/08 in respect of
this position are shown below

United Utilities plc £52,000 Appomted 5 October 2005

Duning the year Mr Gott was appomnted non-executive director of Filtronuc ple Details of fees received by hum tn 2007/08 in
respect of this position are shown below

Fadtronuc plc £30,000 Appomnted 13 July 2006
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Directors’ emoluments

Basx salary/fees Taxable benefis™ Bonus Total Pension comtributons™
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Name of dorector £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive directors
Mr P Heiden 550 530 24 23 480 174 1,054 727 275 265
Mr N Bamford 285 270 19 19 249 89 553 378 - -
MrR L Gott 285 273 26 24 124 45 435 342 105 101
Non-executive
directors
Mr G F Page CBE 135 135 - - - — 135 135 - -
Sir Michael
Hodgkinson 338 37 - - - - 38 37 - - -
Mr C L Matthews 35 35 - - - - 35 35 - -
Mr D J Pearl 40 38 - - - - 40 38 - -
Mr R I Case CBE 40 40 - - - — 40 40 — -
Aggregate
emoluments 1,408 1,358 69 66 853 308 2,330 1,732 380 366

(2} Taxable non-cash benefits consist of permanent health msurance comypany car or car allowances hfe assurance and private medical nsurance
Also Mr Heiden chose W recerve a taxable car allowance of £15,000 pa as an alternative 10 38 comparry car
() Company contributtons paxd in respect of unapproved retrement bene fit schemes

Non-executive directors’ fees

The fees paid to non-executive directors and the Chaurman are determined by the Board after reviewing fee payments for
comparable positions within similar orgamisations, and are normally reviewed every two years The fee structure for non-

executive directors meiudes a basic fee of £35,000 and an additional fee of £5,000 for a commutiee charmanshup The basic fee
for the sentor non-executive director 1s £38,000 The last review was in March 2006

Fees for Mr R [ Case are paid to Melchester Associates Ltd at hus request
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Directors’ pension benefits

The under noted directors were members of a defined benefit scheme provided by the Group dunng the year Mr P Heiden 1s
responsible for his own pension provision Pension entitlements and corresponding transfer values were as follows during the
year

Transfer value of

wcrease m
accrued benefit Increase
(exchuding n transfer value
Increase n nflation) less Accrued Accrued pension  Transfer vatue Transfer value of less
accrued pension contributions pension at at of pension at 31 pension at31 conmbutons
{excluding made by 3 March 31 March March March made by
wflabon} directors 2008 2007 2008 2007 directors
Name of drector £000 £000 £000 000 £000 £000 £000
MrRL Gott 19 260 26.6 238 347.2 2846 549
Mr N Bamford 104 142 5 85.9 726 1,019.7 7969 2037

Note In addibon to the accrued pension shown u the table, Mr Goett will recerve a fixed pension of £24 400 fiom age 65 10 respect of a transfer value paud into the Scheme The vaiue
of this pension 15 excluded from the transfer values shown.

(1)} The pension entitlement shown 15 that which would be pard annually on retrement based on senace to the end of the year
(2} The increase i accrued pension dunng the year excludes any increase for inflation.

(3} The transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuanal advice in accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note GN11, although no adjustment has been made for any under
funding of the Scheme The cakculation of each wransfer vatue mcludes an allowance for the cost of death before rearement benefits

(4) The change i the amount of the transfer value over the year s impacted by the following elements
a  the ransfer value of the increase in accnued pension (et of inflanon),
b the transfer value of the increase in accrued pension (due o mflaton),
¢ the increase in the wansfer value of acerued pension at the beginning of the year due to ageng;
d  the change to the ransier value basis methodology,
e the umpact of any change in the econommuc or mortality assumptions underlying the transfer value basts,
f  theeffect ofa toe less the duector's own contribunens over the year

The change in the amount of the transfer valtue over the year includes the effect of fluctuations in the transfer vahue due to factors beyond the control of the Company and directors, such
as stock market movements whech are reflected ine and the change in method 1n d above

(5} Darectoss have the option to pay Additional Voluntary Contributions However neither the contributions nor the resulting benefits are included 1n the table

(6} MrCott s UK pension scheme benefits are subject to an eamungs cap (formerly the Inland Revenue's eamungs cap) In addibon, Mr Gott 1s being paxd a supplement of 37% pa of
salary (plus an extra £45,000 pa unt! Apnl 2008} to prowide fiusther persion benefits on a defined contribution basis

Directors’ share options

Exerxise price Date
At Apnl Granied Exercsed Lapsed during At 31 March per share exercsable
Date of grant 2007 dunng the year dunng the year the year 2008 Pence from Expuy date

P Heiden

Executive share option  06/01/03 1,022,727 - - 1,022,727 8800 06/01/06 06/01/13
Executive share opuion  02/02/04 772,532 - ~ 772,532 11650 02/02/07 02/02/14
Executive share option  26/08/05 850,024 - - 850,024 10335 26/08/08 26/08/15
Executive share option  02/08/06 944982 - - 944,982 9815 02/08/09 02/08/16
Executive share option  14/08/07 - 1,007,326 - " 1,007,326 9555 14/08/10 14/08/17
Savings related option 01/11/04 9,592 - - 9,592 9825 nfa /a

t
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Directors’ share opfions (continued)

Exercise price Date
At} Apnl Granted  Exerosed Lapseddunng  At31 March pershar  exerciable
Date of grant 2007 duning the year during the year the year 2008 Pence fom  Expuycate
N Bamford ’
Executive share option  04/12/01 36,140 - - . — 36,140 18675 04/12/04 04/12/11
Executive share opton  08/07/02 48,214 - - —~ 48,214 14000 08/07/05 08/07/12
Executive share option 06/06/03 141,234 - _— — 141234 7700 06/06/06 06/06/13
Executive share option 11/06/04 250,000 - — (250,000) - 11575 11/06/07 11/06/14
Executive share option 26/08/05 333,817 - - — 333817 10335 26/08/08 26/08/15
Executive share option 02/08/06 412,633 - - — 412,633 98 15 02/08/09 02/08/16
Executive share option 14/08/07 — 447410 - — 447410 9555 14/08/10 14/08/17
. Savings related option 23/07/03 26,541 - - - 26,541 60 00 a n/a
R L Gott
Executive share optron 22/07/97 50,000 - - (50,000) - 16600 22/07/00 22/07/07
Executive share option ~ 09/i2/97 50,000 - — (50,000) —~ 18250 09/12/00 09/12/07
Executive share option 09/08/99 30,000 - - — 30,000 21800 09/08/02 09/08/09
Executive share optton  04/12/01 35,340 - - — 35340 18675 04/12/04 04/12/11
Executive share option ~ 08/07/02 125,000 ~ - — 125060 14000 08/07/05 08/07/12
Executive share option ~ 06/06/03 409,091 - - — 409,091 7700 06/06/06 06/06/13
Executive share option 11/06/04 300,000 - - (300,000) — 11575 11/06/07 11/06/14
Exccutive share opion  26/08/05 373,004 - .- -, 373,004 10335 26/08/08 26/08/15
Executive share option ~ 02/08/06 417218 - - - 417,218 98 15 02/08/09 02/08/16
Executive share option 14/08/07 — 447410 - — 447410 9555 14/08/10 14/08/17

Notes

(1) All executive share options granted 1n 2007 were granted under the rules of the 2005 LTIP approved by shareholders i July 2005 and were at rul cost 1o the duecior concerned
(2) The market price of an ordwnary share on 31 March 2008 was 69 75p (2007 116 25p) and the range durng the year was 47p to 140p

. (3} Allexecutive share options granted 1n 1957 and subsequent years ane exercisable from the dates stated above, subject to them satisfying the performance conditons stated i the pohicy
section

(4) Executve Share Options granted i June 2004 under the former scheme were not subject to retesting.
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Directors’ LTIPs
Cash
Shares Shares Shares lapsed Shares value of Shares Market awarded
Shares allocawed vested during  transferred award at allocated at  Performance value n bew of
Date of aliocated at dunng dunng year dunng date ofgrant 31 March penod  Earbest date (Note2)  dividends
awand 1 Aprl 2007 year year (Note 1} year £ 1008 enddate  for ransfer £ £
P Heiden
11/06/04 292,095 - —(292,095) ° — 338,100 ° - nfa - n/a nfa -
26/08/05 485,728 - - - L - 310,014 485,728 .26/08/08 26/08/08 338795 -
02/08/06 539,989 - — 7 =7 7 520999 539989 02/08/09 02/08/09 376,642 -
14/08/07 - 575614 . - - — 550,000 575,614 14/08/10 14/08/10 401,490 -
N Bamford
11/06/04 120,950 - — (120,950) — 140,000 - na nfa n/a -
. 26/08/05 222,545 - - - — 233,672 222,545 26/08/08 26/08/08 155,225 -
02/08/06 275,089 - - - — 270,000 275,089 02/08/09 02/08/09 1912875 -
14/08/07 — 298,272 - - — 285,000 298,272 14/08/10 14/08/10 208,044 -
R L Gott
11/06/04 151,188 - - (151,188} — 175,000 - n/a n/a na -
26/08/05 248,670 - - - — 261,102 248,670 26/08/08 26/08/08 173,447 -
02/08/06 278,145 - - - — 272,999 278,145 02/08/09 02/08/09 194,006 -
14/08/07 — 298,272 - - — 285,000 298,272 14/08/10 14/08/10 208,044 -

The price of an ordinary share on 14 August 2007, bemng the date that awards were made dunng the year was 98 00p The
awards are subject to the performance conditions for LTIP awards, as outlined 1n the policy section

Notes

{1} The Company's Total Shareholder Return performance for the three-year performance period that ended in March 2008 ranked below median compared agamst fis comparator group
Under the ferms of the rules applicable to the 2004 awards 100% of the awands lapsed

{2} The market value of shares as yet unvested s stated a1 69 75p per share, bewng the closmg mud-market prce on 31 March 2008 1f the sanking position of the award made w 2005 were
to be mawtaned until the end of the respechve performance penod, the awards granted 1 2005 would lapse
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Directors® beneficial interests i ordmary shares of FKI ple

As al

As at 1 Apnt 2007

31 March or subsequent

2008 date of

Ordinary appointment

Name of director shares Ordinary shares
G F Page 60,000 60,000
N Bamford” 134,474 115440
RL Gott™” : 92,383 67,016
P Heiden'! 347209 297,209
Sir Michael Hodgkmson : ‘ ' 5370 5,370
C L Matthews 16,338 -
D J Pearl . , o _
RICase 10,000 10,000

(1) The benefical tnterests for executive dwrectors mcludes invested shares purchased from thetr deferred bonus w 2007 whuch are being held in trust.

Any ordinary shares required to fulfil entitlements under the current or former LTIP are provided by the FKI Employee Benefit
Trusts As beneficianes under the Employee Benefit Trusts, the directors are deemed to be interested mn the some of the shares
held by the Employee Benefit Trusts which, at 31 March 2008, amounted to 1,860,779 FKI plc ordimnary shares

Auditable mformation

The mformation 1n the Remuneration report subject to audit 1s that included mn the tables and related notes in the section on
directors’ emoluments, directors’ LT1Ps, directors’ share options and directors’ pension benefits

By order of the Board

Atz (rell

ANTONIO VENTRELILA Secretary
30 June 20038
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of FKI plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of FKI plc for
the year ended 31 March 2008 which comprise the
Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated balance
sheet, the Consohdated cash flow statement, the Consolidated
statement of recogmsed imcome and expense and the related
notes 1 to 43 These financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out theremn

We have reported separately on the parent Company financial
statements of FKI plc for the year ended 31 March 2008

Thus report 1s made solely to the Company’s mernbers, as a
body, in accordance wath Section 235 of the Companies Act
1985 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we mught
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
10 state to them 1n an auditors’ report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permutted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
repon, or for the opiuons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

The directors’ responsibihities for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group financial statements in accordance with
applcable Umted Kingdom law and Intemational Financial
Reporting Standards ([IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Umon are set out m the Statement of Durectors’
Responsibihties

Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

We report to you our opiuon as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and are properly prepared
n accordance with the Companies Act 1985 We also report to
you whether m our opiruon the information given in the
Directors’ report 15 consistent with the Group financial
statements The information given n the Directors’ report
ncludes that specific information presented in the Operating
and financtal review that 1s cross referred from the Busimess
review section of the Directors’ report

In addition we report to you if, 1 our opmuon, the Group has
not kept proper accounting records, 1f we have not received all
the nformation and explanations we require for our audit, or if
informaunon specified by law regarding directors’

remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed
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We read other nformation contamned in the Annual Report,
and constder whether 1t 15 consistent wath the audited Group
financial statements This other information comprises only
the Directors” report, the Directors” remuneration report and
the Operating and financial review We consider the
imphications for our report 1if we become aware of any
apparent rsstatements or matenial inconsistencies with the
financial statements Qur responsibilities do not extend to any
other information

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board An audit includes exanunation, on a
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures
n the financial statements It also includes an assessment of
the sigmificant estimates and judgements made by the directors
n the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's
circumstances, consistently apphed and adequately disclosed

We planned and performed our audit so as to gbtain all the
mformation and explanations which we considered necessary
m order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements are
free from matenal msstaternent, whether caused by fraud or
other wregulanty or error In formung our opimon we also
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
mformation m the Group financial statements

Opinion
In our opiuon

. the Group financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the Group’s affaurs as at 31 March
2008 and of us loss for the year then ended,

the Group financal statements have been properly

prepared in accordance with the Compares Act 1985,
and

. the information given 1n the Directors’ repoit 15
consistent with the Group financial statements

Emst & Young LLP Registered auditor .
London I

m%«n} (LA

1 July 2008




Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Note £m £m
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue - 4 1,047.9 9583
Cost of sales ' Cor e (785.3)  (7169)
Gross profit ) 262.6 2414
Operating expenses S, - . ’ ;. B (149.7) (1550)
Operating profit before special tems 5 1129 864
Loss on sale of operations 10 1.2 27
Reorgamsation, closures and impairments 11 (7.2 58
Profit on sale of property 1.5 53
Strategic review and approach costs 3.5 -
Melrose takeover costs . 10.1) -
Profit from continuing operations before taxation and finance costs 924 832
Share of post tax results of associates and jont ventures 0.1 02
Fuance costs 12 {38.7) (36 1)
Finance income 12 39 %3
Profit before taxation from continuing operations 571 566
Taxation 13
-UK - 04
— Overseas ] . (19.2) (177
(19.2) (173)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 385 393
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Loss)/profit for the year from discontinued operations 14 (304.6) 73
{Loss)/profit for the year 7 (266.1) 46 6
Attnbutable to
Equity holders of the parent (266 5) 46 4
Minonty interest 0.4 02
(266 1) 466
Earnings per share . 16 Pence Pence
Basic carnings per ordinary share
— CONONUINg Operatons 6.5 67
— discontinved operations . (51.9) 12
. (45.4) 79
Diluted carnings per ordinary share .
- continuing operations . 6.5 67
~ discontinued operations . . (51.8) 12
’ 453) 79
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 March 2008

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 17 2105 2261
Goodwll 18 30.8 3751
Intangible assets T 19-, 2.8 16
Investments 0 associates and jomnt venhires 20 1.1 07
Other receivables 23, 0.4 50
Deferred tax assets 31 9.7 466
Pensien and other post-retirement benefit assets 33 120 96
Denvative financial assets 28 747 . 48 4
3420 7131
Current assets
Inventones 21 190.9 191 8
Trade and other receivables 23 249.9 3260
Cash and short-term depostits 24 1292 1255
Current tax recoverable 2.0 03
Denvative financial assets 28 3.7 32
575.7 646 8
Assets classified as held for sale 30 2322 -
Total assets 1,149.9 1,3599
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 27 (552.3) (462 5)
Trade and other payables 26 (4.6) 57
Prowvisions 29 (19.5) (21 0)
Deferred tax habilites 31 (34.1) (35 1)
Pension and other post-retirement benefit obhigations 33 (31.2) (118 4)
Denvative financial hiabalities 28 (344 (19 6)
(676 1) (662 3)
Current liabilities
Interest beaning loans and borrowings 27 (1.1) (2349)
Trade and other payables 25 (277.9) (350 4)
Provisions 29 3.7 (70)
Corporation tax and overseas tax (39.2) (354)
Denvative financial labihties 28 (1.7 (1 5)
: (3256 (4177
Liabilites durectly associated with assets classtfied as held for sale 30 (103.6) -
Total habilities (1,1053) (1,0800)
Net assets 44.6 2799
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Consolidated balance sheet (continued)
As at 31 March 2008

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Note £m £m
Equity ’
Share capital 34,36 58.8 588
Share premium account 36 159.2 159 1
Capital redemption reserve 36 20 20
. Own shares 36 (2.4) 24
Share-based payments accrual 36 35 36
Exchange reserve 36 15.8 67
Hedgng reserve 36 1.0 10
) . Retained earnings N 36 (194 9) 663
Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent 43.0 2787
Minonty mterest 36 1.6 12
Total equity 36 44.6 2799
These financial statements were approved by te Boaf tors on 1 July 2008 and signed on its behalf by

S

P Heiden - Director -
N Bamford — Director R/
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Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 March 2008

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Note £m £m
Operating activities
Cash flow from operating activities 38 088 386
Interest paid 432) (41 t)
Interest received 4.0 46
Taxation pard (15.5) (16.2)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 14.1 (14 1)
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (36.1) (336)
Purchase of intangible assets {(19) 07
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equupment 153 203
Acqusition of businesses net of cash acqured 2.3) 60)
Taxation paid relating to disposal of businesses m prior years' - (19 6)
Proceeds from disposal of businesses 137 84
Net cash disposed with businesses 0.3) -
Payment of deferred purchase consideration . . . - 09
Investment 1n joint venture ) : (0.5) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities 1z2.1) (316)
Cash flows from financing activities -
Received from cross-currency swaps 358 -
Dividends paid (26.4) (26 3)
Repayment of loans (77.5) (43 2)
New loans 81.2 169
Proceeds from 1ssue of share capital 0.1 31
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 13.2 (495)
Net increase/{decrease) Iin cash and cash equivalents 15.2 (952)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1253 2357
140.5 140 5
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 79 (152)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 24 148.4 1253
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Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
. For the year ended 31 March 2008

Year anded Year ended
31 March 31 March

2008 2007
£m £m
(Loss)/profit for the year . (266 1) 466
(Expenses)/income not recogmsed n the income statement
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit pensions and other post-retirement bénefits - . 555 218
Taxation on actuanal gam/(loss) on defined benefit pensions and other post-retirement benefits (24.8) (135)
Currency translation differences ansing in the year . 255 (163)
Net gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges ) ) - 16
Taxation on net gans/(losses) on cash flow hedges - 04)
Total recognised income and expense for the year (209.9) 398
. Atmbutable to
Equuty holders of the parent {210.3) 396
Mimonty mierest 04 02
(209.9) 398
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1} General information

FKI plc is a public lumuted company incorporated and domuciled in England and Wales The consolidated financial statements
comprise the Company and 1its subsichanes (together referred to as the “Group™)

The financial statements are presented in sterhng and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand pounds except
where otherwise indicated

2) Statement of comphance

The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance wath International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as
adopted by the European Umion and apphed in accordance with the provisions of the Compames Act 1985

The Group has adopted IFRS 7 “Financial instuments Disclosure” and the amendment to IAS 1 “Presentation of financaal

statements” which are mandatory for years ending on or after 31 Decemnber 2007 This has resulted 1 additional disclosures but
no unpact on reported profit or net assets

The Company has elected to prepare 1ts parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP and these are
presented 1n a separate section of this report on pages 81 to 98

3) Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The policies set out below have been consistently apphed

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2008 have been prepared on the lustoric cost basis except for denvatve
financial nstruments, financial instruments held for trading and available for sale financial assets which have been measured at
fair value The carrying values of recogmised assets and habilities that are hedged are adjusted to record changes m the fair
values attributable to the nsks that are being hedged Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower
of cammying amount and fair value less estimated costs to sell

The disclosures of continumg operations and discontinued operations for the comparative year have been restated 1n these
financial statements to reflect the disposal group held for sale as discontinued operations Thus 15 1n accordance with [FRS §

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial staternents compnse the financial statements of FKI plc and its subsidianes as at 31 March each
year, together with the Group’s share of the results of associates and jomnt ventures using consistent accounting policies

All intercompany balances and transactions, ncluding unrealised profits arising from intra-group transacuons, are ehmnated in
preparmng the consohdated financial statements

The results of compamies acquired or disposed of dunng the year are included from or up to the date on which control 1s
transferred to or out of the Group respectively

(¢) Associates and joint ventures

Associales are those entities in whach the Group has significant mfluence, but not control, over the financial and operating
policies Joint ventures are those entites over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement
and requinng unammous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions

The consohdated financial staterments include the Group's share of the total recogrused gains and losses of associates and joint
ventures on an equity accounted basis, from the date that sigmficant influence or joint control commences until the date that
sigmificant influence or jont control ceases When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest m an associate or jomt
venture, the Group’s carrying amount 15 reduced to nil and recogrution of further losses 15 discontinued except to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an associate or jomt venture
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3) Signrficant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Foreign currency translation

Transactions m foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated m foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Sterling at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date Foreign exchange differences ansing on translation are recogrused in the income statement.
Non-monetary assets and Liabilities that are measured in terms of lustorical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction Non-monetary assets and habihittes denomunated 1in foreign currencies that are stated
at fair value are translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair values were determuned

Exchange gains and losses ansmng on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment wn a foreign

enfity are taken directly to reserves to the extent that they can be offset against the exchange differences ansing on the equity
mvestments

On consolidation, the assets and liabihites, mcluding goodwall and fair value adjustments, of overseas subsidiary and associated
undertakings and jomnt ventures are translated mto Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date The mcome
and cash flows of overseas subsidiary and associated undertakings and joint ventures are translated mto Sterling at average rates
of exchange prevailling dunng the year, with the year end adjustment to closing rates bewng taken to equity Differences on
exchange ansing from the re-translation at year end rates of the net investment mn overseas subsichary and associated
undertakings and joint ventures at the beginming of the year are taken to equity All other exchange differences are dealt with in
the deterrmnation of profit for the financial year

Exchange adjustments ansing from the translation of the net investment 1n foreign operations and of related hedges are taken to
translation reserves m equity On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised n equuty relating to
that particular foreign operation 1s recogrused m the income statement as part of the profit or loss on disposal The Group has

adopted the exemption allowing these cumulative translanon differences to be reset to zero at the transition date (1 Apnl 2004)
to [FRS

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any impairment 1n value
Depreciation 1s calculated on all assets, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to wnite off the cost, less estimated residual
value, of each asset on a straight-line basis over theiwr esumated useful lives as follows

Freehold buildings 50 years
Long leasehold property 50 years
Short leasehold property over the lease term
Plant and machinery — heavy production 15 years

— other 10 years
Office equipment 5 to0 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
property, plant and equipment

The gawn or loss ansing on the disposal or retirement of an asset 1s determined as the difference between the sales proceeds, less
costs of disposal, and the camrying amount of the asset and 15 recogmsed i the income statement
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3) Significant accounting policies {continued)
(f) Goodwill
Goodwall on business acquisitions 1s mitally measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the busmess combination over the

acquirer’s mierest in the net fair value of the 1dentifiable assets, habilities and contingent habihities Following imstial
recognition, goodwill 1s measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses

Goodwill on acquisitions afier 31 March 2004 1s not amortised and goodwill ansing on acquisition before the date of transition
to [FRS (whuch 1s 1 April 2004), 15 not amortised after that date Goodwill existing at the date of transition to IFRS has been
retamned at the previous UK GAAP amounts as the Group has elected not to restate busmess combinanons that occurred before
the date of transition to IFRS

Goodwll 1s reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes mn circumstances mdicate that the
carrying value may be impaired

Negative goodwil] ansing on any acquisition 1s recogmused directly in the income statement
{g) Intangible assets
(1t Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred Development expenditure incurred on an mdividual project 1s capitalised when 1its
future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured Following the imtial recogninion of the development expenditure,
the cost model 1s apphed requiring the asset to be carned at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impatrment losses Any expenditure capitalised 1s amortised over the lesser of the useful Life of the project or three years

(i1} Other intangible assets

Other intangble assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impawrment losses
Intangible assets mcluding those ansing from a busiess combimation are amortised over therr remarmg useful lives

Amortisation 1s charged to the ncome statement on a straight-hne basis over the estumated useful hife of the asset, unless such
hives are indefimte The estimated useful hves are as follows

Computer sofiware — 3 years
(h) Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and Fair value
less costs to sell

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale 1f thewr carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transachion rather than through continuing use This condrtion 15 regarded as having been met only when the sale 15 lughly
probable and the asset or disposal group 15 available for unmedate sale m 1ts present condition Management must be

commutied to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recogmtion as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification

(1) Leases

Assets obtained under leases and hure purchase contracts which result i the transfer to the Group of substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownerstup (finance leases) are caputahised at the estumated present value of underlying lease payments and are
depreciated over thewr expected useful lives The capital elements of future lease obligations are recorded as habiliies whlst the
finance elements of the rental payments are charged to the income statement over the pertod of the lease or hire purchase
contract so as to produce a constant rate of charge on the outstanding balance of the net obhigation in each penod

Rentals pand under other leases (operating leases) are charged 1o the income statement on a straight-hine basis over the lease
term
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3) Significant accounting policies {continued)
() Imparment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and mtangible asseis to determume whether
there 15 any mdication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset 1s estzmated n order to determune the extent of the impairment loss (if any) Where the asset does not generate cash
flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating urut to which
the asset belongs An intanpible asset with an indefinute useful life 1s tested for impawrment annually and whenever there 1san
indication that the asset may be impawed

Recoverable arnount 15 the higher of fair value, less costs to sell, and value in use In assessing value in use, the esimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time
value of money, and the nsks specific to the asset for which the estmates of future cash flows have not been adjusted

If the recoverable amount of an asset 15 estunated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 15 reduced
10 1s recoverable amount An impawment loss 18 recogmised as an expense immedately, unless the relevant asset 1s cammed at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss 1s treated as a revaluation decrease

Where an impawrment loss subsequently reverses, the carmying amount of the asset 1s increased to the revised estiumate of 1ts
recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carmyng amount that would have been
determuned had no impairment loss been recogmused for the asset i prior years A reversal of an impairment loss 15 recogrused

as mcome immediately, unless the relevant asset 15 carned at a revalued amount, in which cash the reversal of the unpawrment
loss 1s treated as a revaluation mcrease

An mmparment loss i respect of goodwall 15 not reversed '
(k) Inventonies

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost, on a first-in first-out basis, and net realisable value afier making due allowance for
any obsolete or slow moving inventory Cost comprises direct matenals and labour and an appropnate proportion of
manufactunng overheads, based on normal levels of activity

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling pnce less all estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale

(1} Construction contracts

Revenue and costs are recogrused by reference to the stage of completion of the contract Stage of completion 1s deterrmned by
the costs incurred to date to the extent that such costs represent progress made on the project Cost compnses direct matenals
and labour and an appropnate proportion of manufactuning overheads based on normal levels of activity

The Group presents as an asset the gross amount due from construction contract customers, for all contracts in progress for
which costs incurred plus recogrised profits less provisions for foreseeable losses exceeds progress billings Progress billings
not yet paid by customers and retentions are inctuded within trade and other recervables

The Group presents as a hability the gross amount due to construction contract customers for all contracts i progress for whuch !
progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recogmsed profits, less recogmsed foreseeable losses

(m) Provisions
Provisions are recogmsed when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 1t 1s probable that
an outflow of economuc benefits wall be required to settle the obhigation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of

the obligatton If the effect 1s matenal, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the tume value of money and, where appropnate, the nsks specific to the hability
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3) Significant accounting policies (continued)
{n) Pensions and other post-retrement benefits
(i} Defined contribution pension schemes

Pension costs for the Group’s defined contribution pension schemes are recogmsed within operating profit at an amount equal
to the contnbutions payable to the scheme for the penod Any prepaid or outstanding confributions at the balance sheet date are
recogrused respectivety as assets or habilities within prepayments or accruals

(1) Defined benefit penston schemes and other post-retirement benefits

Pension Liabilities are measured at their present value mn accordance wath actuanial assumptions that are updated at each balance
sheet date Pension assets are measured at fair value The pension hability or asset 1s recogmused in the balance sheet

Pension costs for the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes and other post-rerement benefits are recognised as follows
() Within operating profit
» The current service cost ansing from employee service in the current penod,

¢ The pnior service cost related to employee service 1 prior penods ansing m the current peniod as a result of improvements
to benefits,

¢ Gamns and losses ansing on unanticipated setilements or curtailments where the item that gave nse to the settlement or
curtailment 1s recogrused within operating profit

(b) Within other finance cost or mcome

s The interest cost on the habihues, calculated by reference to the scheme habilities and discount rate at the beginming of the
penod,

+ The expected return on assets, calculated by reference to the assets and thewr long-term expected rate of return at the
beginming of the penod,

{c) Within the statement of recogmsed income and expense
¢ On the scheme assets — the difference between the expected and actual return on assets,

¢ On the scheme labilities — (a} the differences between the actuanal assumptions and actual experience, and (b) the effect
of changes n actuanal assumptions

{0) Share-based payment transactions

Certain employees {including directors) of the Group recerve remuneration i the form of share-based payment transactions,
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or nghts over shares (“equity-settled transactions™)

The cost of equuity-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fair value at the date at winch they are
granted The fair value 15 determuned by an external valuation In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account 1s taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the pnce of the shares of FKI plc (“market conditions™)

The cost of equity-settled transactions 1s recogrused, together with a correspondmg mcrease 1n equity, over the period in which
the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on whuich the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(“vesting date™) The cumulative expense recogrused for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting peniod has expired and the number of awards at that date based on the best available
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ulumately vest.

No expense 1s recogrused for awards that do not ultmately vest, except for awards where vesting 1s conditional upon a market

condriion, which are treated as vesting urespective of whether or not the market condition 1s satisfied, provided that all other
performance condihons are satisfied

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a mummum, an expense 1s recogmised as 1f the terms had not been

modified In addition, an expense 15 recogmsed for any increase 1n the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as
measured at the date of modification
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3) Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equuty-settled award 1s cancelied, 1t 15 treated as 1f 1t had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recogrused for the award 15 recogmised immediately However, 1f a new award 15 substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that 1t 15 granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modificanon of the original award, as descnbed in the previous paragraph

The dilutive effect of outstanding options 1s reflected as additionzl share dilution 1n the computation of earnings per share

K The Group has an employee share incentive plan and an employee share trust for the granting of non-transferable options to

executives and semor employees Shares 1n the Group held by the employee share trust are presented in the balance sheet as a
deduction from equity

The Group has taken advantage of the transiional provisions of IFRS 2 i respect of equity-settled awards and has apphed
IFRS 2 only to equuty-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested on or before 1 Apnl 2004

. (p) Revenue

Revenue 1s measured at the farr value of the consideration receved or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods
and services provided 1n the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales related taxes

Sales of goods are recogmsed when the signuficant nsks and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer
Revenue from construction contracts 18 recogmsed m accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on construchon contracts

Revenue from services rendered 15 recogrused in the accounting period i which the services are rendered, by reference to
completion of the specific transacuon assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to
be provided Revenue from services provided on a short-term basis 1s recogmsed when the service 15 complete

Interest income 1s recogrsed as the interest accrues, (using the effective mterest method that discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset

Dividend meome from mvestments 1s recogrused when the shareholders’ nghts 1o receive payment have been established
{g) Derwvative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses denvauve financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate nsks ansing trom
operational, financial and mvestment activities The Group does not use derrvative financial mstruments for speculative
purposes

Denvative financial instruments are recogrused mtially at cost Subsequent to tutial recognition they are stated at fair value
. The gam or loss on remeasurement to fair value ts recogmsed immediately in profit or loss However, where denivatives qualify
for hedge accounting, recogution of any resultant gamn or loss depends on the nature of the 1tem being hedged

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 1s determuned by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts

with sumutar matunty profiles The fair value of interest rate and cross currency swap contracts 1s determned by reference to the
present value of the esimated future cash flows

For the purpose of hedge accountng, hedges are classified as erther far value hedges where they hedge the exposure to changes
n the farr value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to vanability n cash flows

that is either attnbutable to a particular risk associated wath a recogmused asset or liability or a highly probable forecasted
transaction

In relation to fawr value hedges (eg interest rate swaps) which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from
remeasuring the hedging mstrument at fair value 1s recognised unmediately in the income statement Any gain or loss on the
hedged nem atnbutable to the hedged nsk 1s recogrused as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item and
recogmsed i the meome statement. Where the adjustment 1s to the carmying amount of a hedged interest-beanng financial
mnstrument, the adjustment 15 amortised to the net profit and loss such that it 1s fully amortised by matunity
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3) Significant accounting policies {continued)
{q) Denvative financial instruments and hedge accounting {continued)

In refation to cash Aow hedges to hedge the exposure to vanability m cash flows and which meet the condinons for hedge
accounting, the portion of the gam or loss on the hedging instrument that 15 determined to be an effective hedge 15 recogmsed
directly te equity and the ineffective portion 15 recogmused 1n net profit or loss

When the hedged firm commitment results in the recogmtion of an asset or habihity, then, at the ume the asset or liability 15
recogmsed, the associated gams or losses that had previously been recogmised m equity are included in the mitial measurement
of the acqusition cost or other carrying amount of the asset or hability For cash flow hedges that do not result in the recogmton
of an asset or a iability, the gains or losses that are recogmised 1n equity are transferred to the income statement in the same
period in which the hedged firm commutment affects the net profit and loss, for example when the future sale actually occurs

Hedge accounting 15 discontinued when the hedging instrument expares or 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting At that pomnt 1n tune, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recogmsed 1n equity
15 kept 1n equity untl the forecasted transacthion occurs if a hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the net

. cumulative gam or loss recogmsed mn equity 18 transferred to net profit or loss for the year

(r) Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid, or recovered, using the
tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s recogrused, using the liability method, on all temporary differences, subject to the exceptions noted below, at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and habihtres and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes

Deferred tax in respect of taxable or deductible temporary differences associated with investments i subsidiartes 1s not
recogsed where the temporary differences can be controlled and 11 15 probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future or in the case of assets, taxable profit will be unavailable aganst which the temporary differences, can
be utilised

Deferred tax assets are recogrused for all deductible temporary differences, camed forward unused tax assets and unused tax
losses, to the extent that 1t 15 probable that taxable profit wall be available agamst which the deductible temporary differences,
and carned forward unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utihsed

Deferred tax 1s measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 1n the penods m which 1t 1s anticipated that the asset wall be

realised or the hability will be settled, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date

(s} Investments
. All mvestments are mmtially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and the costs of acquisition

After iutial recogrution, investments whch are classified as held for trading or available for sale, are measured at fawr value
Gans or losses on investments held for trading are recogrused i income Gans or losses on available for sale investments are
recogmsed as a separate component of equity untl the mvestment 1s sold or 1s determuned to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gan or loss previously recogrused i equity 15 included in the iIncome statement

Investments classified as held to matunty are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
Amortused cost 1s calculated by taking into account any discount or prermium on acqusiion, over the penod to matunty For

investments camed at amortised cost, pains and losses are recognised 1n the income statement when the investments are
derecogmsed or impaired

The fair values of quoted investments are determined by reference to current bid pnces For investments for whach there 1s no
quoted market pnice, fair value 1s deterrmuned by reference either to the current market value of another nstrument wihuch 1s
substantially the same or 15 calculated based on the expecied cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment
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3) Significant accounting policies (continued)
{t) Interest bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowng are mitially recogmised at the fair value of the consideration recerved net of issue costs associated with
the borrowing

After mitial recogmition, mnterest bearmg loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
mnterest method Amortised cost 1s calculated by taking mnto account any 1ssue costs, and any discount or prermium on
settlement

Gains and losses are recogrused 1n net profit or loss when the liabiliies are derecognused or impatred, as well as through the
amortisation process

{u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attnbutable to the acquisition, construction or production of a major qualifying asset, are
capitalised as part of the cost of the assetif the costs are significant and a significant penod of time 1s required to complete the
asset Investment income eamed on the temporary mvestment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets 1s deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

All other borrowing costs are recognised 1n the income statement 1n the peniod in which they are mcurred
(v) Standards and interpretations not yet applied

Dunng the year, the IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations wth an effective date after the
date of these financial statements which are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or afier 1 April 2008 or

later pertods but which the Group has not early adopted The effective date quoted below relates to the annual penod beginning
on or after

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs)

Effective date
I[FRS 8 Operating segments 1 January 2009
Amendment to IAS 23 Borrowing costs 1 January 2009
Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements 1 January 2009
Amendment to IFRS 2 Share-based payments — vesting conditions and cancellatons 1 January 2009
Amendment to IAS 32 and IAS 1 Fmancial instruments presentation and puttable
financial instruments 1 January 2009
IFRS 3 (revised 2008) Business combmations 1 July 2009
IAS 27 (revised 2008) Consohdated and separate financial statements 1 July 2009
IAS 28 (revised 2008) Investments in associates 1 July 2009
international Financial Reporting Interpretations Commiftee (IFRIC)

Effechive date

IFRIC 12 Service concession arrangements 1 January 2008
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes - 1 July 2008
IFRIC 14 1AS 19 The hnut on a defined benefit asset, mummum funding requirements
and their mteraction . - 1 Janvary 2008

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a matenal impact on the
Group's financial statements 1n the penods of uutal apphication commencing on or after 1 Apnl 2008 except for [FRS 3 should
the Group undertake matenal acquisitions 1n the future One of the key features of the revised IFRS 3 15 a requirement for
acquisition related costs to be expensed to the mcome statement and not be included w the purchase price
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3) Significant accounting policies (continued)
(w) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In applying the above accounting policies, managemert has made appropnate estimates and judgements in a number of areas
The key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that have a significant nsk of causing matenal adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and habihties within the next financial year are

FPost-retirement benefits

The determnation of the penston and other post-retirement benefits cost and obhgation 15 based on assumptions determined
with mdependent actuarial advice The assumptions mctude discount rate, inflation, pension and salary increases, expected
return on scheme assets, mortality and other demographuc assumptions

impairment of goodwil/

Determumng whether goodwill 1s impaired requares an estunation of the value 1n use of the cash generating umts to which
goodwll has been allocated The value i use calculation requures an estimate of the future cash flows expected to anse from the
cash generating umut and a suitable discourit rate m order to calculate present value

Deferred income fax

Deferred tax assets and habilines require managerment judgement in determuning the amounts to be recogmsed In particular,
significant judgement 1s used when assessing the extent 1o which deferred tax assets should be recogmsed which 15 dependent
on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits The Group recogmses deferred tax assets where 1t 1s more likely than not
that the benefit will be realised

4) Revenue

Revenue of continuing operations disclosed m the income statement 1s analysed as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Sale of goods 9692 8815
Rendenng of services 313 237
Construction contracts 474 531

1,047.9 9583
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5) Segment information

The prumary segment reporting format 15 determined to be business segments as the Group’s nsks and rates of return are
affected predomnantly by differences 1n the products and services provided Secondary segment mformation 1s reported
geographically

For management purposes the Group 1s orgamsed into three continuing business segments

Lifung Products and Services has a capabihity in design, manufacture, distnbution and servicing of hifing and other equipment
for customers m the industral, munng, energy, construction, marine and fishing markets

Energy Technology 1s a suppher of electrical plant and systems to a wide vanety of customers i industry, power generation
and o1l and gas supply

Hardware has extensive capability mn the design, manufacture and distribution of window and door hardware, furmiture
hardware, ergonomc equipment and castors for ongmnal equipment manufacturers, distributors and retailers

Transfer prices between busmess segments are set on an arm's length basis m a manner simlar to transactions with thurd parties
Segment revenue and operating profit mcludes trading between business segments which are ehmmated on consohidation Inter
segment sales are not matenal m relation to total Group revenue

Business segments

An analysis of revenue, operating profit before special items from continuing operations and certain assets and habilities
mformation by business segment 1s given below

The contmbution from acquisinons for the year ended 31 March 2008 was revenue of £1 8 mulhon and operating loss of £(0 7)
mullion The acquisition related to Energy Technology For the year ended 31 March 2007 the contribution from acquisitions
whuch related to Energy Technology was revenue of £14 5 mullion and operating profit of £2 6 mullion

(a) Revenue

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Lifting Products and Services ) 452.1 4342
Energy Technology 429.2 344 4
Hardware 166.6 1797
Continuing operations 1,047.9 9583
Discontinued operations 3152 3756
Total operations 1,363.1 1,333 9
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5) Segment information (continued)
(b} Operating profit before special tems

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Lafting Products and Services . . 67.5 577
Energy Technology . ) . . 46.7 242
Hardware T . ' 64 167
Unallocated corporate costs (7.7 (122)
Operating profit before special items from continng operations 1129 864
Loss on sale of operations (1.2) 27
. Reorganisation, closures and impairments (7.2} (58)
Profit on sale of property 15 53
Strategic review and approach costs 3.5 -
Melrose takeover costs (10.1) -
Profit from contining operations before taxation and finance costs 92.4 832
Share of post tax results of associates and joint ventures 0.1 02
Net finance (costs)income (34.8) (26 8)
Taxation (19.2) (173)
Discontinued operations (304.6) 73
(Loss)/profit for the year (266.1) 466

The share of post-tax results of associates and jont ventures in both the years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 relate
to Energy Technology

In the year ended 31 March 2008 reorganmisation, closures and impairments of contimung operations were mcurred in Energy
Technology of £4 0 mullion, Hardware of £2 7 mullion and Lifinng Products and Services of £0 5 mullion In the year ended
31 March 2007 such costs were mcurred in Hardware of £5 8 mullion

. Profits on sale of property arese wn the year ended 31 March 2008 in Corporate of £3 2 million offset by losses on sale in
Hardware of £1 7 million In the year ended 31 March 2007 profits on the sale of property arose in Corporate of £5 3 rullion

The loss on sale of operations wn the year ended 31 March 2008 was incurred in Energy Technology of £2 0 mullion and Lifung
Products and Services of £0 1 mallion offset by a credut of £0 9 million in Corporate relating to prior years® disposals In the year
ended 31 March 2007 the loss on sale of operations was incurred in Lifung Products and Services of £2 4 mullion and Hardware
of £1 4 mullion offset by a credit of £1 1 mullion m Corporate relating to pnior years’ disposals

Strategic review and approach costs and Melrose takeover costs arose in Corporate i the year ended 31 March 2008
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5) Segment information (continued)
{c) Segment assets and habilihes

Year ended  Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2008 2008 2007 2007

Assots Liabilties Assels Liabiites

£m £m £m £m
Lifting Products and Services 2263 (78.7) 2204 (787)
Energy Technology 3354 (138.0) 2669 (105 1)
Hardware 1213 (21.8) 1116 (262)
Reporting continuing segments 683.0 (238.5) 6079 (2100)
Corporate 1.5 (55.9) 68 (520)
Discontinued mncluding held for sale 2020 (101.8) 5104 (116 5)
886.5 (396.2) 1,i251 (378 5)

The mvestment 1n assocrates and joint ventures 1 both the years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 related to Energy

Technology
(d) Other segment infarmation

An analysis of total additions to tangible fixed assets and intangible fixed assets (“capital expenditure™) and depreciation of

tangible fixed assets and amortisation of mtangible assets (“depreciation”) 1s provided below

Year ended Year ended
31 March  Year ended 31 March Year ended
2008 31 March 2007 31 March
Capital 2008 Capital 2007
expenditure Depreciation expenditure  Depreciation
£m Em Em £m
Lifting Products and Services 10.6 9.0 i18 97
Energy Technology 154 6.2 82 60
Hardware 7.0 53 78 55
Reporting contimung segments 330 205 278 212
Comorate 1.4 06 05 07
. Discontimued operabons 34 39 43 40
378 250 3206 259
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5) Segment information (continued)
Geographical segments

The following tables present revenue, segment assets and capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets and intangible assets by

geographicai segment

Sales 10 external customers are based on the geographical location of customers Segment assets and capital expenditure are

deternuned by the location of the Group's assets

Geographical analysis of revenue, assets and capital expenditure includes amounts classified as discontinued’held for sale

(a) Revenue by geographical location of customer

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m Em
United Kingdom 216.2 1837
Rest of Europe 290.7 3114
North Amenca 634.8 683 6
Rest of the World 2214 1552
o . 1,363.1 1,3339
{b) Segment assets and 10tal capital expenditure on tangible and intangible fixed assets
Yearended  Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2008 2008 2007 2007
Segment Capnal Segment Capna
Assets  expenditure Assets expenditure
£m £m £m £rn
Umnited Kingdom 2209 67 2464 68
Rest of Europe 314.2 17.0 306 4 83
North Amenca 3104 133 5389 150
Rest of the World 41.0 08 334 25
886.5 37.8 1,1251 326
Reconcihation of segment operating assets to total assers and segment operating liabalitzes to total liabilines
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2008 2008 2007 2007
Assets Liabiities Assets Liabdibes
£m £m £m £m
Segment assets/{liabilities) 886.5 (396.2) 1,125 1 (378 5)
Investments in associates and joint ventures 1.1 - 07 -
Non operating deferred mcome - {0.5) - on
Corporation tax and overseas tax 2.1 (40.6) 03 (354)
Deferred tax 16.7 G41) 46 6 (351)
Interest recervable/(payable) 09 (5.6) 05 (55)
Pension and other post-retirement benefits 120 (349) 96 (1184)
Cash and short-term deposuts 1484 - 1255 ~
Denivative financial assets/(Liabilities) 82.2 (36.4) 516 211
Interest beanng ioans and borrowings L. - (557.0) - (485 9)
. Total assets/(habibities) 1,1499 (1,1053) 1,3599  (1,0800)

The mvestment in assocrates and joint ventures it both years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 related to segment

assets in Energy Technology
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6) Operating expenses - continuing operations

Year encted Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Distnbution and sales costs 81.6 829
Adminstrative costs 68.1 721
149.7 1550
7) (Loss)/profit for the year
Thus 15 stated after charging
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Research and development expense 4.1 47
Depreciation of property, plant and equpment 24.3 250
Amortisatton of intangible assets 0.7 09
Operating lease rentals 113 121
8) Auditors’ remuneration
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Audit of the Company annual financial statements 0.4 05
Audit of the Company’s subsidianes — pursuant to legislation 1.1 13
15 18
Other services — audnt of the Group penston schemes 0.1 01
— taxation services 0.1 01
~ other 04 03
0.6 05

All fees payable to the Company’s auditors have been charged to the mcome statement, except for those in relation 1o
assoctated pension schemes wiuch are borme by the respective schemes
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9} Staff costs

The average number of persons {including directors) employed by the Group 1 each of the following categones dunng the year
was

Year ended Year ended

31 March 34 March

2008 2007

Number Number

Production . 9,385 9,558
Distmbution and sales 1,189 1,179
Admimstratton and management 1,292 1,398

12366 12,135

Their aggregate remuneration comprised

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Wages and salaries 303.8 2990
Social secunty and other allied costs 36.0 34,7
Pensions costs — defined benefit 10.2 105
—defined contribution 8.2 83

Other post-retirement benefits (3.4) -
354.8 3525

Further information relating to pensions and other post-retirement benefits are included in note 33
The remuneration of the Directors 1s disclosed in the Remuneration report
10) Loss on sale of operations - continuing

The pre-tax loss on sale of operations can be analysed as follows

Year ended Year ended

34 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Loss before tax 1.9 32

Exchange previcusly wniten off aganst reserves 02 06
Relating to prior years’ disposals 09 (i1}

1.2 27

The operattons sold 1n the year ended 31 March 2008 were Froude Hofimann of Energy Technology and Bridon Stocksbrnidge
of Lifung Products and Services In the year ended 31 March 2007 the operations sold compnsed the chain manufacturing
businesses mn the US and UK and the distribution acuvities of Certex Equatorial Guinea which were part of Lifing Products and
Services In addinion, part of Wnight Products was sold which was a part of Hardware
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11) Reorganisation, closures and impairments — continuing operations

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Reorgamsation and closure costs 12 58

The reorgamsation costs i the year ended 31 March 2008 relate to the closure and rationalhisation of certam continung
operations within Energy Technology of £4 0 milhon, Hardware of £2 7 rrullion and Lifting Products and Services of £0 5
mullion The £5 8 mullion costs m the year ended 31 March 2007 relate to the closure and rationalisation of certain contmumg

operations within Hardware

12) Finance (costs}income — continuing operations

Year ended Year ended
21 March 31 March
2008 2007
. £m £m
Interest payable on )
— bank loans and overdrafts - (5.4) (33)
— other loans (29.7) (28 0)
— finance lease charges - (0.4) 02)
Net finance costs on pension schemes and other post-retirement benefits - 34
Foreign exchange losses 0.3) (12)
Fair value losses on financial mstruments 2.9 -
Total finance costs (38.7) G61)
Interest recervable 39 42
Fair value gains on financial instruments - 51
Total finance mcome 39 93
13) Taxation
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
® " “on
Current tax — UK. 0.4 51
Double taxation relief 6.4) (B
Current tax — overseas 172 135
Adjustments n respect of prior years
-UK - {0 4)
- overseas ] 0.2) (0 6)
Total current taxation 170 125
Deferred tax — overseas 22 48
Total taxation on continnng operations 19.2 173
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13) Taxation {continued)

The tax charge above includes the following wath regard to reorganisations, closures and impawurments and profit/(loss) on sale
of properties and loss on sale of operations classified as special items withun continng profit.

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

Em £m

(Credit)/charge (0.6) (14)

In addition to the amounts charged to the income statement, deferred tax on actuanal gamns and losses on defined benefit
pensiens and other post-retrement benefits of £24 8 mulhion (2007 charge of £13 5 milhion) and copper commodity and foreign
currency hedging of £n1l million (2007 charge of £0 4 mullion) have been charged to equity

Translation differences on long-term foreign currency loans have been taken to reserves together with a tax credit thereon of
£aul (2007 E£rul)

The tax expense 1n the income statement for the year 1s hugher (2007 lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
of 30% (2007 30%) as explamed below-

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Profit from contimung operations before taxation 517 566
Profit/(loss) before taxation from discontinued operations 2.0 83
Profit/(loss) before taxation on disposal of discontinued operations (311.2) (12
. L (244.5) 637
Taxauon on above at the UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2007 30%%) (73.4) 191
Effects of
- non deductible expenses — impawrment Joss on disposal group held for sale 94.2 -
- non deductible expenses — other 24 13
- {lower)/lugher tax rates on overseas carmngs (1.5 2
— adjustment to tax charge in respect of pnor years 0.0 (12)
Total tax charge for the year 21.6 171

The total tax charge for the year is analysed as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Taxation on contimung operations 19.2 173
Taxation on resulis of discontinued operations i the current year 24 0D

Taxation on the gan/(loss) on disposal and closure of busmesses mcluded in discontinued operatons - -

Taxation on imparrment loss on disposal group held for sale . - -

) - 21.6 171
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14) Discontinued operations

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Post tax profits/(losses) of discontinued operations . 6.6 85
Impamrment loss on disposal group held forsale '~ , L - (314.1) t -
Post tax gam/{loss) on disposal of discontinued operations 2.9 12
(304.6) 73

The post tax gamn on disposal m the year ended 31 March 2008 relates to pnor years” disposals

In March 2008 the Board decided to dispose of the Group’s Logistex busmesses and negotiations have taken place with an
interested party These operations, which are expected to be sold within 12 months, have been classified as a disposal group
held for sale and are presented separately in the balance sheet. The trading results are included in discontinued operations The
imparrment loss relates to the wnte down of the net assets to fair value less costs to sell and in accordance with IFRS has been

applied agamst goodwill

The results of the discontinued operations which have been included in the consohidated ncome statement were as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Revenue 3152 3756
Cost of sales (261.0) (G104
Operating expenses (46.1) (514)
Operating profit before special 1tems 8.1 138
Reorganisation, closures and impauments (0.5) (62)
{Loss)/profit on sale of property - orn
Profit before taxation and finance costs 7.6 75
Finance costs (1) 0N
Finance mcome 25 15
Profit before taxation 90 83
Taxation -- overseas 244 02
Profit after taxation 6.6 8BS

Finance income includes fair value gams on financial instruments i the year ended 31 March 2008 of £2 0 mullion (2007 £09

mullion)

The post tax gawn/(loss) on the disposal and closure of businesses can be analysed as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m
Gam/(loss) before taxation 29 (12)
Taxation - -
Exchange previously wnitten off against reserves . ' - -
- - 29 2y
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14) Discontinued operations (continued)

The net cash flows attnbutable to the trading activities of discontinued operations are as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Operating cash inftow/(outflow) 6.7 27
Investing cash mflow/(cutflow) (3.5) (36)
Financing cash inflow/(outflow) R - -
Net cash inflow/{cutflow) 3.2 63)

An analysis by classes of assets and habihities compnising the businesses classified as held for sale are as follows

Assets

Year ended Year ended

31 March 3% March
2008 2007
£m £m
Property, plant and equipment 311 -
Goodwll 3563 -
Other intangibles 0.1 -
Inventories 19.6 -
Trade and other recervables 109.1 -
Cash and short-term deposits 19.2 -
Denvative financial assets 38 —
Current tax recoverable 0.1 -
Deferred tax 7.0 -
5463 -
‘Wnite down of net assets to fair value wiuch wall be applied aganst goodwall it accordance wath IFRS (314.1) -
Assets classified as held for sale ‘ 2322 -
Liabilities
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m Em
Non-current
Interest beanng loans and borrowings 0.9 -
Pension and other post-retirement benefit obligations : 3.7 ~
Current
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 27 -
Trade and other payables 94.6 -
Corporation tax and averseas tax 14 -
Denvative financial habilihes 0.3 -
Liabibses directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 103.6 -
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15) Dividends
The amounts recogrused as distributions to equity holders in the penod were

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007

£m £m

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2007 of 3p (2006 3p) per ordinary share 176 175
Intenim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 1 5p (2007 1 5p) per ordinary sharg 88 88
26.4 263

The proposed final dividend 1s subject to approval of the Scheme of Armmangement by the court and 1n accordance with IFRS has

not been included as a hability as at 31 March 2008 Thus proposed final dividend wall be paid on or before 15 July 2008 to

ordinary shareholders on the register at 27 June 2008

Year ended Year encled

31 Mareh 31 March
2008 2007

£m £m

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 3p (2007 3p) per ordmary share 17.6 176

16) Earnings per share
The basic, diluted and adjusted earmungs per share are set out below

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m Em
Basic earmnungs per ordmary share

— continuing operations 6.5 67
— discontinued operations (51.9) 12
ds.4) 79

Diluted earrungs per ordinary share T
— continung operations 6.5 67
— discontinued operations (51.3) 12
453) 79
Adjusted eanmungs per ordinary share 113 87
Diluted adjusted earrungs per ordinary share 113 87

Basic earmings per ordinary share and diluted earnings per ordinary share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable 1o the
equity holders of the Company for the year by respectively the basic weighted crdinary shares n 1ssue during the year or diluted

weighted average ordinary shares in issue duning the year

Adjusted earmngs per share, which provides a better understanding of the underlying performance of the Group, 1s catculated

by dividing the operating profit/(loss) for the year before special items (profit/(loss) on sale of businesses, reorgarusations,

closures and imparments, profit/(loss) for the year on property sales, strategic review and approach costs and Melrose takeover

costs), profit’(loss) on disposal of discontinued operations, fair value gains/(losses) on financial instruments and exchange

gawns/(losses) included withun finance costs and mcome and taxation related to those items by the weighted average number of

shares 1n 1ssue dunng the year The profit/(loss) for the year until disposal, or classification as group held for sale, of

discontinued operations 1s included as pari of the profit for the year Profit attnbutable to munonty interest 1s excluded from thus

calculation
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16) Earnings per share (continued)

The calculation of the basic, diluted and adjusted earmungs per share 15 based on the following

(a) Earnings

Yearended  Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2008 2008 2007 2007
£m pence £m Pence
(Loss)/profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company for the year
— continuing operations ' 381 6.5 391 67
— discontinued operations (304 6) (51.9) 73 12
- Total operations (266.5) {454) 46 4 79
Adjustments
— Fair value gams/(losses) on financial instruments included in net
finance costs
~ continuing 29 0.5 Gn (09)
— discontmued 20) 0.3 09 02
—~ Foreign exchange losses included 1n net finance costs 03 0.1 12 02
Add back special 1tems
— contimuing — loss on sale of businesses 12 0.2 27 05
— continuing ~ reorganisations, closures and impairments 7.2 1.2 58 10
— continuing — profit on sale of property ’ (1.5 ©.3) 53 09
— continuing — strategic review and approach costs 35 0.6 - -
— continuing — Melrose takeover costs 10.1 1.7 - -
— discontinued — reorgamsations, closures and imparrments 0.5 0.1 62 11
— discontinued — {profit)/loss on sale of property - - 01 -
~ tax on special items (0.6) (0.1) (14) 02)
Discontinued loss/(profit) on disposal of busmesses including tax 29 0.5) 12 02
Discontinued impawment loss on disposal group held for sale 31441 53.5 - -
Adjusted earmings for the year 66.3 11.3 509 87
{b) Number of shares
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Number Number
000s 000s
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic and adjusted earmings per share 586,721 583,559
Effect of dilution on exercise of outstanding share opuons 1,447 2,045
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted earmngs per share 588,168 585,604

The weighted average number of shares in 15sue excludes shares held in trust under the Long Term Incentive Plan until such

tume as they vest unconditonally
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17) Property, plant and equipment

Long Short Plant,
Freehold leasehold leasehold equipment
property property property  and vehicles Total
fm £m £m £m £m

Cost:
At 1 Apnl 2006 1959 117 55 5129 7260
Exchange adjustments . (122) 03) on (322) ,(44'8)
Acquisition of subsidianes o L CL - - . 02 02
Disposal of subsidianes - a9 - .= (259) (27 8)
Additions . 35 03 ~ 281 319
Disposals 96 (14 02 317 429)
At 31 March 2007 1757 103 52 451 4 6426
Exchange adjustments 98 15 01 184 298
Acquisition of subsidiaries 15 - - 03 18
Disposal of subsidiaries - - - (11 6) {11 6)
Transferred to assets held for sale (26 5) - - (44 0) (70 5)
Additions 56 02 - 301 359
Disposals (292) 02) 03 (39 1) (68 8)
At 31 March 2008 136.9 11.8 5.0 405.5 559.2
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2006 ©70) (13) 38) (406 5) (478 6)
Exchange adjustments 57 - 01 261 319
Disposal of subsidiaries 06 - - 231 237
Charge for the year (36) 02) ©on 211 25 0)
Disposals 23 03 01 309 336
Impairment 0 6) — - (15) 2y
At 31 March 2007 626) (12) (37 (3490)  (4165)
Exchange adjustments {19 o1 - (102) (122)
Disposal of subsidianes - - - 104 104
Transferred to assets held for sale 67 - - 327 394
Charge for the year (33) 02) on 207 (24 3)
Disposals 176 - 03 369 54 8
Imparrment - v - - - - 03) (03)
At 31 March 2008 3.5 1.5) 3.5 (3002) (348.7)
Net book value at 31 March 2008 * LT 034 103 15 1053 210.5
Net book value at 31 March 2007 . 1131 91 15 102 4 226 1

The unpairment 1n the year ended 31 March 2008 and 1n the year ended 31 March 2007 relates to the closure and restructuring
of certain continuing operations and the associated wnte down of certamn property, plant and equipment This charge 1s included
mn special items as part of the £7 2 mulhion reorgamsation and closure costs

The net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment includes £8 7 mullion (2007 £7 6 mullion) i respect of assets
held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts
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17) Property, plant and equipment {continued)
An analysis of the cost of freehold property between land and buildings 15 shown below

Year ended

Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Land 314 354
Buildings 103.5 1403
Cost - 1369 1757
18) Goodwill
Totat
£m
Cost
At 1 Apri 2006 s 4075
Exchange adjustments } (373)
Acqusition of subsidianes . - 49
At 31 March 2007 L 3751
Exchange adjustments 114
Acqusition of subsichanes 06
Transferred to assets held for sale X o (356 3)
At 31 March 2008 A 308
Impairment losses )
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007 -
Net book value at 31 March 2008 30.8
Net book value at 31 March 2007 3751

Goodwill acquired mn a business combmation 1s allocated to cash-generating unuts A summary of the net book value of

goodwill by business segment 1s as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£€m £m

Liftng Products and Services ! 44 39
Energy Technology . 6.9 60
Hardware 195 195
Contnuing operations . - 30.8 294
FKI Logistex — classified as a disposal group held for sale in the year ended 31 March 2008 - 3457
- 308 3751

The Group tests goodwnll annually for imparment or more frequently 1f there are indications that goodwall mught be imparred
In assessing whether goodwill has been impaired, the Group compares the carrying value (net assets plus goodwall) of the cash-
penerating units (“CGU”} with thewr recoverable amounts In all cases the recoverable amounts have been determined 1o be the
CGUs’ value 1n use and not therr fair value, less costs to sell Value 1n use 1s denved from the most recent financial plans for the
next three years approved by the Board and extrapolated cash flows thereafter The key assumptions are the nsk adjusted
discount rate, the long-term growth rate and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs whach are based on past
experience, expectations of future changes w the market, wnflation and the benefits of wdentified productivity and cost saving
nmutiatives The applied pre-tax discount rate, based on a nsk adjusted Group weighted average cost of capital (WACC), 1s

10 8% for all CGUs (2007 8 9% except for FKI Logistex where 1 1% was applied) The apphed long-term growth rates of

125% —2 3% (2007 1 5% — 3% are withun the range of external ndustry growth rates
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19) Intangible assets

Computer
Software
£m
Cost-
At 1 Apnl 2006 132
Exchange adjustments 035)
Additions 07
Disposals (10)
At 31 March 2007 124
Exchange adjustments 09
Additions 19
Transferred 10 assets held for sale (37
Disposals (02)
Disposal of subsidianes (0 6)
At 31 March 2008 10.7
Amartisation
At 1 Apnl 2006 (111)
Exchange adjustments 04
Disposals 08
Amortisation for the year (09)
At 31 March 2007 (10 8)
Exchange adjustments ()]
Transferred to assets held for sale 36
Disposals 01
Amortisation for the year 07
Disposal of subsidianies 06
At 31 March 2008 (7.9
Net book value at 31 March 2008 2.8
Net book value at 31 March 2007 16

48 FKiple  Notes to the consolidated financial statements



20) Investment in associates and joint ventures

The Group has a 26% nterest in Mediterranean Power Electric Company Lumited which manufactures electncal distnbution

switchgear in Malta

Dunng the year the Group set up Brush Transformers Gulf LLC as a jomt venture At 31 March 2008 the Group owned 49% of

Brush Transformers Gulf LLC

Assocate  Jont venture Total
£m Em £m
At 1 Apnl 2007 ‘ 07 R 07
Investment in year — 05 05
Share of post tax profits/(losses) 04 03) 01
Duvidends {02) - (02)
At 31 March 2008 0.9 0.2 1.1
. At 1 Apnl 2006 07 - 07
Share of post tax profits 02 - 02
Dividends (02) - 02)
At 31 March 2007 07 - Q7
21) Inventories
} Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Raw matenals and consumables 533 572
Work in progress 589 757
Fimshed goods 88.6 818
200.8 2147
Payments on account 9.9 (229)
190.9 1918
. Wnite down of mventones 3.6 24
Reversal of write down of inventones - {02)
22) Construction contracts
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Contracts 1n progress at the balance sheet date
Contract costs incurred plus recogrused profits less recogmsed losses to date 754 6417
Less progress billings 27.5) (5833
479 584
Amounts due from construction contract customers inctuded in trade and other receivables 533 842
Amounts due to construction confract customers uiélﬁc[ed in‘trade and Gther payables (54) 258)
v ) R ) 479 584
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23) Trade and other receivables

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Current assets

Trade receivables 1779 2144
Due from construction contract customers (note 22) 533 842
Other recervables . . 5.7 143
Prepayments and accrued mcome 13.0 131
: 2499 3260

Non current assets K
Other receivables 04 50

Set out below 15 an agemg analysis of trade recevables and the impairment provision The figures for March 2008 include net
recervables of £53 0 million classified as held for sale and £177 9 rmullien classified as current assets on the face of the balance

sheet
Yearended  Year ended Year ended Year ended
3 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2008 2008 2007 2007
Gross Impairment Gross Impaiment
£m £m £m
Not past due 171.0 - 1616 -
Up to 90 days past due 533 0.4) 476 (0 8)
Over 90 days past due 14.3 (7.3) 120 (6 0)
238.6 (1.7 2212 (6 8)
Movements m the provision for the imparment of trade receivables were as follows
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Balance at beginning of year 6.8 73
Exchange adjustments 6.2 (0 4)
Additicnal provision in the year — income statement 21 10
Provision reversed — mcome statement (0.4) {03
Provision utilised 0.9) (0 8)
Disposal of subsidianes {0.1) -
Balance at end of year 7.7 68
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24) Cash and short-term deposits

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
€m £m
Cash at bank and i hand 123.7 733
Short-term deposits 5.5 522
129.2 1255
- For the purposes of the consohidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equuvalents compnse the following
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 207
£m £m
@ chavankandmhand 1237 733
Short-term deposits 55 522
Bank overdrafts - ©2)
. 1292 1253
Cash and short-term deposits net of overdrafis included withun assets and habihities held for sale 19.2 -
] 148 4 1253

The Group’s Guemnsey based captive insurance company 1S required to maintain a level of assets n suppert of the msurance
business underwritten on behalf of the Group At 31 March 2008 this amounted to £26 3 million (2007 £30 0 nullien) of cash
and short-tenm deposits Until such tume as alternative arrangements are in place the £26 3 mullion remams assigned to the

captive msurance company

25) Trade and other payables — current

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Trade payables 1574 2113
. Payments received on account 11.5 48
Amounts due to construction contract customers (note 22 ) 54 258
Other payables 415 30
Other taxes and social secunity 59 118
Accruals and deferred income 56.2 59.7
2779 3504

26) Trade and other payables — non-current
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m Em
QOther payables 24 30
Accruals and deferred income 2.2 27
4.6 57
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27) Interest beanng loans and borrowings

Ths note provides mformation about the contractual terms of the Group's interest bearing loans and borrowings Details of the
Group’s exposure to mterest rate, forergn currency hquidity nsk are mcluded in note 28

Non-current Current Total

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 Mareh 31 March 31 March

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

£m Em £m £m £m £m

Euro 600 mthon guaranteed Eurobond 4858 4172 - - 485.8 4172
Guaranteed bank borrowings 245 - -~ 127 245 127
Guaranteed US pnivate placement loan notes 40.2 408 - &9 40.2 497
Bank loans and overdrafts 0.8 0s 1.2 10 20 15
Cther borrowings 09 09 - - 0.9 €9
Obligations under finance leases 1.0 31 2.6 08 3.6 39
5532 4625 38 234 557.0 4859

The above table includes interest beanng loans and borrowings classified as held for sate as follows

Non-current Current Total

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Liabilities on the face of the balance sheet 5523 462 5 1.1 234 5534 4859
Liabihities classified as held for sale 0.9 - 2.7 - 3.6 -
553.2 4625 38 234 557.0 4859

The Euro 600 mulbion guaranteed Eurobond matures on 22 February 2010 and bears interest at 6 625% Costs incurred m
issuing these bonds are amortised over the 10 year hife of the bord The remaimng unamaortrsed wssue costs at 31 March 2008
are £1 3 milhon (2007 £1 7 mullion) The Company has transacted a number of cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps to
synthet:cally alter the currency and interest rate obhgations of Euro 576 mullion out of the Euro 600 mullion obligauon These
cross-currency and mterest rate swaps are reported as denvative financial instruments

The Eurcbond 1ssue 15 guaranteed by FKI Engineenng Lumited (formerly named FKI Engineering PLC) and FKI Industres Inc
At 31 March 2008 FKI Engineering Limited, whose accounts have been prepared under UK GAAP, had gross assets of

£1,859 5 mulhion (2007 £1,684 2 mullion), net assets of £1,146 4 mutlon (2007 £1,207 0 mulhion) and a profit afier tax of

£139 4 mulhon for the year then ended (2007 £68 9 mulhion) At 31 March 2008 FKI Industries Inc , whose unaudited special
purpose financial staterents had been prepared under US GAAP, had gross assets of US Dollar 381 1 mullion (2007 US Doliar
447 5 mullion), net habilities of US Dollar 173 2 nulhion (2007 US Dollar 166 0 mullion) and net profit of US Dollar 11 2
mullion for the year then ended (2007 US Dellar 23 7 milhion) FKI ple has represented that 1t wall continue to provide any

necessary funding and hquidity to enable FKI Industries Inc to satsfy its obligations, ncluding repayment of thurd party
borrowings

At 31 March 2008 the guaranteed bank borrowings of US Dollar 50 0 mullion (2007 US Dollar 25 0 mullion) were drawn under
the Company’s £120 0 mullion multi-currency revolving credit facility In May 2008 the matunty on this facility was extended
from 1 Apnl 2009 to 2 December 2009 The Company’s subsidiaries, FKI Engineenng Lumited and FKI Industnes Inc , act as
guarantors to this facibty Drawdowns under this new facility bear imnterest at LIBOR plus a margin of § §% nsing 1o 1 75%
with effect from 19 June 2008, 2 00% wath effect from 1 October 2008 and 2 25% wath effect from 2 Apnl 2009
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27) Interest bearing loans and bormrowings {continued)

The US Dollar 80 0 nrulhion (2007 US Dollar 97 5 rmuthion) guaranteed US pnivate placement loan notes are 1ssued by the
Company’s subsidiary FKI [ndustnies Inc and are guaranteed by the Company and 1its subs:diary FKI Engimneenng Limted The
nterest rates and matunties on these loan notes are shown below None of thus cutstanding US Dollar debt has been swapped
(2007 US Dollar 17 5 mullion swapped mto fixed rate Euro)

2008 2007

£m £m

US Dollar 17 5 mllion 7 1% loan notes maturing 10 October 2007 . - 89
US Dollar 25 mullion 7 37% loan notes mdtuning 1 Apnl 2011 126 127
US Dollar 55 mathon 7 75% loan notes maturing 1 April 2016 276 281
As at 31 March 40.2 497

Bank loans and overdrafts are at floating interest rates Certam of the Company’s bank overdrafts are netted off agamnst cash for
Group purposes 1n accordance with the nght of set-off contained 1n the banking agreements Other loans amounting to £1 7

mullion (2007 £1 3 nullion) are secured by fixed and fioating charges on a subsidiary Company’s assets

2008 2007

Fixed rate  Floating rate Total Fixed rate  Floating rate Total

£m £m £m Em £m £m

The borrowings are repayabile as follows

On demand or within one year - (3.8) (3.8) 89) (14 5) (23 4)
In the second year 429 (467.3) (510 2) - 23) 23)
In the thurd year (1.0) 0.1) (1.1 44 4) (3737) (418 1)
In the fourth year (12.6) ©.7n (13.3) - 01 01
In the fifth year - - -~ (128) on (129)
After five years {28.6) - (28.6) (289) ©2) (29 1)
(85.1) {471.9) (557.0) 950) (3909) (4859)

Less repayable within one year - -3.8 38 89 145 234
Amount repayable 1n more than one year (85.1) (468.1) {553.2) (86 1) (376 4) (462 5)
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28) Denvative financial instruments

31 March 2008 31 March 2007
Net Net
Derivative Derivative derivative Denvaiive Demvatve denvatve
financial financial financial financsal financial financal
assets liabilites  instruments assets Rabilites nstruments
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Derivative financial nstruments -
non-current
Cash flow hedges . 32 . 0.1) - 31, - 04 04
Faur value hedges 522 29 - 493 - (139 (139)
Net mvestment hedges 191 . (3l4) . (123) 472 (53) 419
Other hedges 0.2 T 0.2 12 - 12
747 ' (344) 40.3 48 4 (196) 28 8
Derivative financial instruments — current . o
Cash flow hedges 4.7 0.5 4.2 17 - 17
Net investment hedges - - - 02 - 02
Other hedges 2.8 as - 13 13 (13) (02}
1.5 (2.0) 55 32 (15 17
822 (36.4) 45.8 516 211 305
The above table includes denvative financial instruments classified as assets and hiabihities held for sale as follows
31 March 2008 31 March 2007
Net Net
Derivative Derivative derivative Derivative Denvative denvaive
financtal financial financial financia financial financial
assets habilibes  mstruments assets liabiies instrumenis
£m £m Em £m £m £m
Non-current assets/(habihities) on the face of the
balance sheet . 74.7 (344) 40.3 484 (19 6) 288
Current assets/(liabihities) on the face of the
balance sheet 37 (.7 2.0 32 (15) 17
Assets/(habihities) classified as held for sale 38 0.3) 35 - - -
822 (364) 45.8 516 211) 305
Cash flow hedges

At 31 March 2008 the Company held two cross-currency swaps that were designated as cash flow hedges These swaps hedge

the cash flow varabihty ansing on movements mn the Euro Sterling exchange rate and protect Euro 30 mullion of the Euro 600
mullion Eurobond The terms of the contracts are

Currency Prancipal Matunty Interest rate
Cross-currency swaps
FKI pays Sterlmg 207 mulhon 22 February 2010 8% fixed, payable semi-annually
FX1 receives Eure 300milhon 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed, recervable annually

There have been no changes in the above swaps dunng the course of the year
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28) Derivative financial instruments {continued)

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of copper swap contracts that were designated as cash flow hedges These swap
contracts lock the Company into fixed copper prices to protect aganst fluctuations mn the market price of copper The terms of
these contracts are

Commodity Total quantity Matunty Prcing

Commodity swaps
FKI pays Copper 3,200 tonnes Apri] 2008 to Month-end settlements at fixed
March 2009 price of US Dollar 6,680 per tonne
FKI receives Copper 3,200 fonnes Apnl 2008 to Month-end settlements at the

March 2009 average LME price for each month

Dunng the course of the year the Company took cut the above contracts to replerush maturing hedge contracts which, at 31
March 2007, stood at 2,550 tonnes purchased at fixed pnices averaging US Dollar 5,773 per tonne

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge against the nsk of exchange
rate fluctuations Those foreign exchange forward contracts that were accounted for as cash flow hedges are set out below

Currency Pnncipal Maturty Exchange rate
Forward foreign exchange contracts .
FKI pays USDollar” 43 0 matlion Varous dates Varnous US Dollar Steriing
FKI recerves Sterlmg 219 rm]llc;n between Apnil 2008 exchange rates rangmg
and Aprd 2009 from 1 93 t0 201
FKI pays Canachan 3 5 mullion Canadian Dollar
Dollar - June 2008 Sterling exchange
FKI recerves Sterlmg 1 7 mullion rate of 2 02
FKI pays Sterhng 15 3 pullion Vartous dates Various Czech Koruna Sterling
FKI Czech 5023 between exchange rates ranging from 31 58
recenves ozech 5023 mullion 1 gust 2008 and to 3439
November 2008
FKI pays Euro 9.0 mllion Varnous dates Vanous Sterling Euro exchange
FKI recerves Sterbng 62 mullion between May 2008 rates ranging from 0 6859 to O 6885
and August 2008
FKI pays US Dollar 41 5 rudlion Varnous dates ~ Various US Dollar Damush Krone
FKI s Damsh 218 § between Apnit 2008 exchange rates rangmg from
e pomsh 218 Omlbon T 1 Apnl 2009 47110543

Dunng the course of the year the Company took out a number of new forward foreign exchange contracts and settled matuning
contracts used to hedge foreign currency denominated transactions

The Company also holds a number of other forward foreign exchange contracts which are not designated as cash flow hedges

These contracts are used to hedge foreign currency denominated transactions Changes in the fair value of these contracts are
booked to profit or loss
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28) Derivative financial instruments {continued)
Farr value hedges

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps that were designated as fair
value hedges These swaps hedge against changes in interest rates affecting the fair value of Euro 544 mullion of the Eure 600
rmullion fixed rate Eurobond The terms of the contracts are

Currency Pnncipal Matunty Interes! rate

Cross-currency swaps
3 month LIBOR plus 3%, payable
FKI pays Sterlng 41 4 muhion 22 February 2010 quarterly
FKI receives Euro 600 mulbon 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed, receivable annually
6 month LIBOR plus 3%, payable
FKI pays Sterling 2939 mulion 22 February 2010 semy-annually
FKI receives Euro 426 0million 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed, recervable annually

Interest rate swaps

3 month EURIBOR plus 3 46%,
FKI pays Euro 58 0millicn 22 February 2010 payable quarterly
FK1 receives Eure 58 0mllion 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed, recervable annually

The above mnterest rate swaps leave a residual Euro 58 mullion exposure which the Company has designated as an effectuve net
wnvestment hedge of 11s investments 1n the Eurozone

There have been no changes in the above swaps duning the course of the year

Net investment hedges

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of cross-currency swaps that were designated as net investment hedges of
investments i non-Sterling subsidiary compares These swaps protect against changes i exchange rates affecting the Sterling
value of subsidiaries that are located in the Umted States, Canada, Denmark and the Eurozone The terms of the contracts are

Currency Pnncipal Matunty interest rate
Cross-currency swaps — US Dollars
FKI pays US Dollar 4357 pulhion 22 February 2010 3—6 months LIBOR plus 2 55% to

4 49%
FKI recerves Sterling 224 9 milhon 22 February 2010 36 months LIBOR plus 3%
FKI pays USDollar 294 mullion 22 February 2010 8 51% fixed, payable semi-annually
FKI recerves Sterbng 20 7mullion 22 February 2010 8% fixed, receivable sermu-annually
Cross-currency swaps - Canadian Dollars
FKI pays Canadian 45 1 mullhion 22 February 2010 3 month CAD BA rate plus 3 65%
Dollar

FKI receives Sterhing 193 mullion 22 February 2010 3 month LIBOR plus 3%
Cross-currency swaps — Danish Krone
FKI pays Darush Krone 981 4 milhion 22 February 2010 © month CIBOR plus 3 54%
FK1 receives . Sterlmg 91 lmulllon . 22 February 2010 6 month LIBOR plus 3%

There have been no changes n the above swaps during the course of the year, other than 1) the matunty of a cross currency

swap under which the Company paid 7 21% fixed on Euro 15 0 mullion and recerved Sterling 8% fixed on Sterling 10 4 million
and u) an increase of US Dollar 72 5 mullion 1n swap principal
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28) Dernrvative financial instruments (continued)

The Company also holds a number of other mterest rate swaps that do not quahfy for hedge accounting under IAS 39 These
LIBOR-1n-arrears swaps reduce the Company’s exposure to floating US Dollar interest rates, on a total of US Dollar 133 7
mulhion principal, through a combination of interest rate caps and spreading of reference dates for interest rate resets Changes 1n
the fair vatue of these swaps are booked to profit or loss There have been no changes in these swaps dunng the year

Financial nsk management
{a) Far value of financial instruments

Fair value 1s defined as the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged m an arm’s-length transaction between
nformed and willing parties and 1s calculated by reference to market prices discounted to current value Where market values
are not available, fair values have been calculated by discounting cash flows at prevailing rates translated at year end exchange
rates

2008 2007
Book value Market value Book value  Market value

£m £m £m £m

Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings (3.8) (3.8) (23 4) (23 4)
Long-term portion of long-term borrowings (553.2) (514.4) (462 5) (474 2)
Cash and short-term deposits 1484 1484 1255 1255

408.6) (369.8) (3604) (3721)

Denvative financial instruments

Cross-currency swaps 504 50.4 394 394
Interest rate swaps {10.0) (10.0) (119) (119)
Commodity swaps 2.6 2.6 13 13
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2.8 2.8 17 17
45.8 458 305 305
Net financial habilites (362.8) (324.0) (320 9) (341 6)
The 2008 book value m the above table mcludes net financial liabilites classified as assets/(habilities) held for sale as follows
2008 007
Book value Book value
Em £m
Net financial habihiies shown as assets/(habilines) on the face of the balance sheet (381.9) (3299
Net financal iabilities classified as assets/(labilities) held for sale 19.1 -

(3628) (3299)

Denvative financial instruments are used to hedge exposure to fluctuations n foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
commedity pnces that anse 1 the normal course of business

(b) Currency risk management

The Group pubhshes 1ts consolidated financial statements 1n Sterling and conducts business 1n many foreign currencies Asa
result, the Group 15 subject to foreign currency exchange nsk due to exchange rate movements, which affect the Group’s
transaction costs, and the translation of results and net assets of foreign operations

The Group operates globally with the majonty of sts profits outside the UK. It has sigmficant investments 1n foreign operations,
particularly m North Amenca and the rest of Europe In order to protect the Group's balance sheet and reduce cash flow nsk,
the Group has financed most of 1ts investments 1n the USA, Canada and Europe by borrowing in US dollars, Canadian dollars,
Euros and Damsh Krone Some of this funding 15 achueved by directly borrowing the relevant currency whilst most 1s achueved
through cross-currency swaps, which are often a more cost-effective means of generatng borrowings wn a foreign currency The

Group’s policy 1s to hedge between 50% and 100% of its foreign operations’ net assets with matching currency debt and cross-
CuITency swaps
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28) Derwative financial instruments (continued)

The policy leaves the remamder of the Group’s mvestment in foreign operations before net borrowings subject to currency
movements The effective portion of the exchange chfferences arising on re-transiation of foreign currency debt and cross-
currency swaps 15 recogmsed m the consolidated statement of recogrised ncome and expense to match the corresponding
exchange differences on the net equuty of foreign operations Any neffectiveness 1s taken to the income statement 1n

accordance with IAS 39 Hedge documentation 1s prepared for all net investment hedges at inception and effectiveness tesung 15
carmied out sermi-annually

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts, for up to a maximum of 24 months forward, to hedge foreign currency
exposures on commutted and, occasionally hughly probable forecast, receipts and payments denominated 1n foreign currencies
Hedge accounting is adopted for large transactions that meet cntena imposed by IAS 39, such that gains or losses on the
forward foreign exchange contracts are recogrused in the statement of recogmsed income and expense to the extent it 1s
effective and recycled into the income statement as the underlymg hedged transaction affects the mcome staternent. Any
meffectiveness 1s taken to the mcome statement Where hedge accounting 1s not adopted, any gains or losses on forward foreign
exchange contracts are immediately taken to the income statement.

The Group 1s mainly exposed to US Dollars, Euros, Danish Krone and Canadian Dollars

The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease n Sterling aganst the foreign currencies
detaited above The sensitivity analys:s includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
therr translation at the penod end for a 10% change 1n foreign currency rates A positive number below indicates an increase in
profit and other equity where Sterling sirengthens 10% agamst the relevant currency For a 10% weakemng of Sterling aganst

the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below would
be negative

Year ended 31 March 2008 Year ended 31 March 2007

Profit or loss Equity  Profiiorloss Equity
US Dollar oL " 73 300 69 202
Euro @mn 6.0 07 64
Dansh Krone (1.8) 1.2 03) 98
Canadan Dollar (0.8) 1.5 (0 4) 14
Increase - 48.7 69 378

The mcrease n profit 15 mainly attnbutable to the exposure outstanding on the Group's recervables and payables at the year end

The ncrease in equity 1s as a result of the changes in fair value of denvative mstruments designated as cash flow hedges, fair
value hedges, net investment hedges and other hedges

(c) Commodily price risk

The Group uses commodity swaps to hedge against the price nsk of certain base metal commodities These commodity swaps
hedge the price of projected fitture purchases of base metals by crealing a financial settlement obligation on the Group to
purchase the base metal at a fixed price and sell at the ourturn market rate  As physical supplies of base metals are then
separately purchased at the market rate, the Group 15 left with a fixed pnce Commodity swaps are shown on the balance sheet
at fair value To the extent that they are considered an effective hedge under IAS 39, the far value movements are recogmsed m
the statement of recogmsed income and expense and recycled into the income statement at the same time as the underlying
hedged transaction affects the mncome statement

58 FKIplc  Notes to the consobdated financial statements




28) Denvative financial instruments (continued)
(d) Interest rate nsk
The mterest rate and currency profile of the Group’s borrowings are set out below These gross borrowings figures are shown

after taking mto account the effect of forward foreign exchange contracts and swaps which are used to manage the Group’s
borrowings and which are shown separately from borrowings 1n the Group balance sheet

Financial liabilties (gross borrowings) Financial assets

Cashand Net financta)

short-term assets/

Fixed rate  Floating rate Total deposits (ltabilities)

£m £m £m £m £m

Sterling - - - 283 283
US Dollars (551) (2437  (298.8) 47.1 @51.7)
Euro (29.1) (521 (81.2) 372 (44.0)
Damsh Krone 09) (1069  (107.8) 12 (106 6)
Canadian Dollars - (22.6) (22.6) 11.1 (11.5)
Other , - 0.3 (0.8) 235 227
As at 31 March 2008 @851  (4261)  (511.2) 148.4 (362.8)
Financial habiiies (gross bomowings) Financial assets

Caghand Nat financial

short-term assets/

Fixedrate  Floating rate Total deposits {Labiites)

£m [i} £m £m £m

Sterling - - — 354 354
US Dollars (558) (1979 (2537) 454  (2083)
Euro (38 3) 48 6) (869) 204 (66 5)
Danish Krone 09 92 5) 93 4) 18 ©16)
Canadian Dollars - (20 4) (204) 31 (123)
Other - (10} (10) 144 134
. As at 31 March 2007 (950)  (3604)  (4554) 1255  (3299)

The financial assets shown in the tables above attract floating rate interest at the Interbank bid rate of the appropniate currency
less a margin The floating rate financial liabilities bear interest at the Interbank offered rate of the appropnate currency plusa
margm The interest rate profile of the fixed rate financial iablities 1s shown below

2008 2007
Average Weighted Average
Interest rate average mietest rate of ‘Weghted
Total fixed  of fixed rate period for  Total fixed rate fixed rale average pencd
rate financial financial  which rate is financial financial  for which rate
ftabities liabittbes fixed liabittes liabiibes 15 fixed
£m % Years £m % Years
US Dollars N {55.1) 7.9 5.2 (35 8) 79 62
Euro (29.1) 6.6 2.0 (38 3) 68 21
Damsh Krone (0.9) - 80 09 - 50
As at 31 March 35.0) 7.4 4.1 95 0) 74 49
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28) Denvative financial instruments (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity 1o a reasonably possible change mn interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings)

2008 2007

Increase in Increase in

basis points basis pomnts

of +50 of +50

£m £m

Profit or loss ) 0.2) 02

Equty ’ - —

A decrease of 50 basis points would result 1n an equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss or equity
(e) Liqurdity risk

The Group’s policy on funding capacity 15 to ensure sufficient long-term funding and commtted borrowang facihiies are in
place 1o meet foreseeable peak borrowing requirements The Group’s borrowings exhibit some seasonal vanations duning the
year and for that reason the Board requires long-term funding and commutted borrowing facilities to always exceed actual and
projected debt figures by at least 10% At the year end 85 2% (2007 78%) of the Group’s commnutted facilities were drawn

Of the £646 1 million (2007 £616 9 mullion) commutted borrowmng facilines available to the Group, the undrawn commutted
facihities were as follows

2008 2007

£m £m

Expinng 1o less than one year - 1373
Expinng i more than one year but no more than two years 95.9 -
Asat 31 March 959 1373

The Group also has a number of commutted loan and overdraft facilities at its disposal These facihues are lightly used

There are financial covenants under certain of the Group’s borrowing agreements These agreements also contan cross default
protection and negative pledges Any non-comphance wath covenants could, 1f not waived, constitute an event of default and, in
particular circurnstances, lead to an acceleration of matunty on the borrowings and the inabihity to access commutted facilines
The Group was m full comphance wath its financial covenants throughout the year
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28) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Maturity of financial habilies

The table below summanises the Group’s remaining contractual maturities (including habilities held for sale) at 31 March 2008
and 31 March 2007 The tables have been drawn wp based on the undhscounted cash flows of financial habihties based on the
earhest date on whach the Group can be required to pay The table includes both interest and principal cash flows

31 March 2008

On demand in the Inthe Inthe In the After
or within second third fourth fifth five
one year year year year year years Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade payables (211.5) - - - - - (211.5)
Obligations under finance leases 2.6 - (1.0} - - - (3.6)
Interest bearing loans and .
borrowings 12 (510.2) {0.1) 13 - (28.6) (553 4)
Cash flow hedges 0.5) ©.1) - - - - 06
Fair value hedges - 2.9 - - - - 2.9)
Net investment hedges - (31.4) - - - - (31.4)
Other hedges (1.5 - - - - - (L.5)
(217.3) (544.6) .1 (133) - (28.6) (804.9)
31 March 2007
On demand In the In the in the In the After
or withun second thurd fourth fifth five
one year year year year year years Total
£m Em £m £m £m £m £m
Trade payables (211 3) - - - - - (2113)
Obligations under finance leases 08 (22 09 - - - (39
Interest beanng loans and borrowings (22 6) (B} (4172) 01 {(129) (291) (432 0)
Cash flow hedges - - 04 - - - 04
Fair value hedges - - (139) - - - (139)
Net investment hedges - - “(53) - - - (53)
Other hedges (15 - - - - - (15)
(236 2) 23 4377) 0n (129) (29 1) (718 3)

(A Credit risk

Credit nsk 1s the risk of financial loss to the Group 1f a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 1ts

conwactual obhigations and anses prncipally from the Group’s receivables from customers Credit limis are set for each

customer wath reference to trading history and reports from credit rating agencies These limts are reviewed at regular intervals
Overdue accounts are monutored on an ongoing basis and where appropnate a proviston for impairtient 18 made The credhit nsk
on liquid funds and denvative financial nstruments 15 lututed because the counterparties are financial mstituuons wath ugh
credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies The maximum amount of credit nisk wath respect to customers 1s

represented by the carrying amount on the balance sheet
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29) Provisions

Business  insurance and

restructunng Iirgation Total
£m £m £m
Cost:
At 1 Apnl 2007 ) 82 198 280
Exchange adjustments - - -
Utilised (72) (12 (84)
Arsing 1n the year . i i 57 - 57
Unused amounts reversed . 01} - {(UBY)]
At 31 March 2008 T ’ 6.6 18.6 252
. Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
. 2008 2007
£m £m
Analysed as
Current hiabilities 5.7 70
Non-current liabilities 19.5 210
15.2 280

The costs associated wath the restructunng provisions for vanous reorgamsations within the Group are supported by detailed
plans and based on previous expenence as well as other known factors With the excepuion of amounts related to vacant

leasehold properties the provisions are generally incurred within one to two years The vacant leasehold preperty provisions wll
be utilised n between one and eight years

The msurance and Itigation provisions represerits management’s best estumate of the likely cutcome Pue to the inherent

uncertainty of the nature of such habilities it 1s dafficult to give an indication of the tuming of therr settlement but generally tlus
would be between one and ten years

30) Assets and (liabilities) classified as held for sale

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
. 2008 2007
£m £m
Assets held for sale
Assets of businesses held for sale 2322 -
Total assets held for sale 2322 -
(Liabilities) directly associated with assets held for sale (103 6) -

Further details of the businesses held for sale, inchichng an analysis of the assets and habilities, 15 provided 1n note 14 to the
financial statements
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31) Deferred tax assets and habilities
Deferred tax mncluded m the balance sheet 1s as follows

Asset Liabitty

£m £m

At} Apnl 2006 625 (342)
Exchange adjustments (249) 23
Amount (charged)/credited to mcome statement - (28)
Amount {charged)/credited to the statement of recogrused income and expense/direct to equity (13 5) 04
At 1 Apnl 2007 466 (351)
Exchange adjustments 01N (14)
Amount (charged)/credited to income statement (14) (12)
Amount (charged)/credited to the staterent of recogmsed income and expense/direct to equity 234) 36
Transferred to assets/habihities held for sale (note 14) (70) ~
At 31 March 2008 2.7 (341

Deferred tax liability

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Goodwll (163) (153)
Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (1.9) (53)
Accelerated capital allowances (9.8} (92)
Short-term tumng differences (5.5) 49
Cash flow hedges 0.6) (04)
(341) (351)

Deferred tax assets

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2003 2007

£m £m

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits 9.5 387
Accelerated capital allowances - 19
Short-term tuming differences - {11
Losses 0.1 71
Cash flow hedges 0.1 -
9.7 46 6

At the balance sheet date no deferred tax asset has been recogrused 1n respect of certamn trading and capital losses as based on
currently available evidence 1t 1s considered unlikely that sufficient taxable profits or gans will be generated The unrecogmsed

deferred tax asset1s £45 1 mallion (2007 £34 9 mullion)

Deferred taxation 1s not provided 1n respect of liabilities that mught arise on the distribution of available overseas reserves of

subsidiary undentakings, except to the extent that the decision to rermt such profits has been taken.

Where a liability has not been recogmsed, 1t 15 because the Group 15 1n a position to control the timung of the reversal of the
temporary chfferences and 1t 1s probable that such differences wall not reverse 1n the foreseeable future At the balance sheet date
the aggregate amount of such temporary differences for which deferred tax has not been recogmsed was £17 3 milhon (2007

£22 4 mullion)
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32) Finance and operating leases
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

The Group leases certain of 1ts property, plant and equipment under finance leases These leases have an average duration of
between three and ten years The majonty of the leases are on a fixed repayment basis and where escalation clauses exist they
are linked to LIBOR. No arangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments

Future munimum lease payments under finance leases and hure purchase contracts are as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Not later than one year 27 08
After one year but not more than five years 1.0 32
37 40

Less finance charges allocated to future perniods 0.1) on
Present value of mummum lease payments 3.6 39

The present value of muumum lease payments 15 as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31March
2008 2007

£m £m

Not later than one year 2.6 08
After one year but not more than five years 1.0 31
' 3.6 39

Commitments under operating leases

The total future minumum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Year ended Yearended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Not later than one year 10.7 103
After one year but not more than five years 24.9 270
After five years 16.7 198
523 571
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33) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
{a) Defined contnbution pension schemes

The Group operates a numnber of defined contribution pension schemes, the assets of whuch are held externally to the Group in
separaie trustee admumstered funds Contributions to these defined coniribution pension schemes in the year, wiuch were the
same as the amount charged 0 the income statement, amourted to £8 2 mullion (2007 £8 3 mulhion)

(b) Defined benefit and other post-retirement benefits

The mam pension schemes operated by the Group are 1n the United Kingdom and North Amenca and are defined benefit in
type These are funded schemes, where the future Lhabihities for benefits are provided for by the accumulation of assets held
externally to the Group 1n separate trustee admimstered funds

The cost of these schemes 15 determuned 1 accordance with IAS 19 wath the advice of independent professionally quahified
actuanes on the basis of formal actuanal valuations using the projected umt credit method In line wath normal practice, these
valuations are undertaken trnienmally in the Umted Kingdom and annually n the United States

. The valuations are based on the UK full actuanal valuation as of 31 December 2005 updated at 31 March 2008 by independent
actuanes and Unted States full actuanal valuations as of 31 December 2007 updated at 31 March 2008 by independent

actuanes
The Group alse operates a number of unfunded post-retirement medical and welfare benefit schemes, principally in the United
States
The details for defined benefit and post-retirement benefits mclude habilities classified as held for sale at 31 March 2008 as
follows
North
UK & ROW Arnencan Group
schemes schemes S Medical Total
£m £m £m Em
Non-cuirent assets/(liabilities) on the face of the balance sheet (100) 120 212) (192)
Liabihties classified as held for sale (19 (18) - 37
119 102 (212) (229)
The assets and habilines of the schemes at 31 March 2008 are
Year ended 31 March 2008
North
. UK & ROW Amencan Group
Schemes Schemes US Medcat Total
£m £m £m £m
Schemes assets at fair value
Equities 120.1 87.7 - 2078
Bonds 378.7 827 - 4614
Other 184 0.7 - 191
Fair vatue of scheme assets 5172 171.1 - 6883
Present value of scheme liabihties . {529.1) (157.8) 21.2) (7081)
(11.9) 133 (212) (19.8)
Limit on recogmtion of surplus _:_‘3‘; - 3.1} - 3y
Net pension(liability)/asset ' ' 11.9) 10.2 212) (229)
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33) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2007

Nerth
UK & ROW Amencan Group
schemes schemes US Medical Total
£m £m £m £m
Schemes assets at fair value
Equittes 1750 935 - 2685
Bonds 3098 879 - 3977
Other 159 07 - 166
Fair value of scheme assets 5007 1821 - 682 8
Present value of scheme liabilities (5859) (169 2) (332) (788 3)
(852) 129 (332) (105 5)
Limut on recognition of surplus - 33 - (33)
Net pension(hability)/asset 852) 96 (332) (108 8)

During the year the Group sold property valued at £4 ( mullion (2007 £12 5 muilion) on the basis of professional independent
valuations to the fund with a corresponding reduction in the deficat This resulted in a profit on sale of £2 4 mullion (2007 £53
mulhon) winch has been disclosed as part of special items (profit on sale of property) in the ncome statement

The amounts recogmsed 1n the Group income statement and mn the Group statement of recogmsed mcome and expense for the

year are analysed as follows
Year ended 31 March 2008

North
UK & ROW Amencan Group
schemes schemes US Medical Total
£m £m fm £m
Recognised in the income statement
Current service cost 8.4 27 01 11.0
Past service cost - 0.1 - 0.1
Gan on setttement 1.0) - 3.3 “.3
Recogmsed 1n arnving at operating profit 14 2.8 3.4) 6.8
Expected return on scheme assets 29.7) (12.3) - (42.0)
Interest cost on scheme Labihties 38 0.6 16 420
Other finance costs i1 2.7 1.6 -
Taken to the statement of recognised income and expense
Actual return on scheme assets ) 135 23 - 158
Expected retum on scheme assets 29.7) (12.3) - 420
; (16.2) (10.0) - (26.2)
Other actuanal gamns and (losses) . 69,2 10.2 23 81.7
Actuanal gams and (losses) recogmsed 1 the statement of recogrused
wncome and expense ' " 53.0 0.2 23 55.5
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33} Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2007

UK & ROW Amm Group
schemes schemes US Medical Total
£m £m £m £m
Recognised in the income statement
Current service cost 77 34. - - 111
Past service cost - - - -
Gam on settlement {0.6) - - 06)
Recogmsed n armving at operating profit ) 71 34 - 105
Expected return on scheme assets (253) 123) - (37 6)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 292 100 20 412
Other finance costs 39 23) 20 36
Taken to the statement of recognised income and expense
Actual retum on scheme assets 170 162 - 332
Expected return on scheme assets (253) (12 3) - (376)
83) 39 - (44
Other actuanal gains and (losses) . 242 03 17 262
Actuanial gamns and (losses) recogmsed m the statement of recogmsed )
mcome and expense 159 42 17 218
Pensions

The cost of these schemes 15 determuned m accordance with IAS 19 with the advice of mdependent professionally qualified
actuaries on the basis of formal actuanal valuations, using the projected unt credit method In hne wath normal bustess
practice, these valuations are undertaken tnenmally i the United Kingdom and annually i the United States

Both the FKI Group Pension Scheme and the main FKI Industnes Inc Group Pension Plan are now closed to new members

and therefore under the projected urut credit method the current service costs would be expected to mcrease as the members of
the scheme approach retirement

Scheme assets are stated at their market values at the respective balance sheet dates and overall expected rates of return are
established by applying published brokers forecasts to each category of scheme
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33) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Group UK & ROW Group North America
2008 2007 2008 2007
% % % %
Main assumptions:
Rate of salary mcreases R 42 35 35
Rate of increase in penstons in payment . . v 36 25 - -
Discount rate ' S ., 6.7 54 6.0 60
Expected rates of return on scheme assets i ‘ . .
Equities 75 77 9.0 91
Bonds 49 49 53 56
Other 64 64 4.4 48
Inflation assumption 3.7 32 2.8 28
2008 2007 2008 2007
Years Years Years Years
Post-retirement mortality
Current pensioners at 65 — male 19.8 191 183 179
Current pensioners at 65 — female . 214 207 215 213
Future pensioners at 65 — male 205 198 18.3 179
Future pensioners at 65 — female 221 214 215 213
Rate of increase 1n healthcare costs n/a n/a 100 10 ¢

| Decreasing to 5% m 2014 and thereafier
2 Decreasing 0 5% m 2012 and thereafler

The post-retirement mortality assumptions allow for expected increases in longevity The “current” disclosures above relate to

assumptions based on longevity (in years) following retirement at the balance sheet date

A one percentage pont change 1n the assumed rate of increase mn healthcare costs would have the following effects

Increase Decrease

£000 £000

Effect on aggregate service cost and wmterest cost 50 (44)
Effect on defined benefit obligation 201 (175)

63 FKipic  Noles to the consohdated financal statemenits




33) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Changes 1n the present value of the defined benefit pension obligations are analysed as follows

UK & ROW Amem Group
schemes schemes US Medica! Total
£m £m Em £m
As at 1 Apnl 2006 5956 1502 401 8259
Current service cost 77 34 - 111
Past service cost - - - -
Curtailment 06 - - ©6)
Interest cost 292 100 20 412
Contributions by plan partictpants 25 - - 25
Benefits paid + -0 (240) (119) 25 (38 4)
Actanal (gans) and losses  (242) (0'3) a7 (262)
Foreign currency differences 03 (22 2) 47 (272)
As at 31 March 2007 5859 1692 332 7883
Current service cost 84 27 on 110
Past service cost - 01 - 01
Settlement/curtarlment (10 - 33 4 3)
Interest cost 308 96 16 420
Contributions by plan participants 23 - - 23
Benefits pad 29 1) (12 6) (72) (489)
Actuanal (gains) and losses (69 2) (102) 23) (817)
Foreign currency differences 10 (1o ©7 07
As at 31 March 2008 529.1 157.8 21.2 7081

The defined benefit obligation comprises £708 1 mullion (2007 £788 3 mullion ) anising from plans that are wholly or partly

funded
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33) Pensions and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

Changes 1n the fair value of plan assets are analysed as follows

North
UK & ROW Amencan Group
schemes schemes Total
£m £m £m
As at | Apnl 2006 4723 2007 6730
Expected return on plan assets 253 123 376
Employer contributions 329 03 332
Contributions by plan participants 25 - 25
Benefits pad (24 Q) (119) (359)
Actuanal gamns/(losses) (83) 39 44
Foreign currency differences - (232) (232)
As at 31 March 2007 5007 1821 6828
Expected return on plan assets 297 123 420
Employer contributions 298 02 300
Contributions by plan participants 23 - 23
Benefits pard ) (29 1) (12 6) 417
Actuanal gamns/(fosses) t (16.2) (100 (262)
Foreign currency differences ' - 09 (09)
As at 31 March 2008 517.2 1711 6883
History of experience pams and losses
2008 2007 2006 2005
£Em £m £m Em
UK Pensions
Fair value of scheme assets 517.2 5007 4723 3954
Present value of defined benefit obhgation (529.0) (5859 (595 6) (538 8}
Deficit m the scheme (11.8) (852) (1233 (143 49)
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan habihties 69.2 242 “@19 88
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan assets (16.2) 83 517 (123)
North American Pensions
Fair value of scheme assets 171.1 1821 2007 1898
Present value of defined benefit obligation (157.8) (169 2) (190 2) (179 8)
Surplus i the scheme . 133 129 105 100
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan Liabilities . 10.2 03 09 10
Expertence adjustments ansing on plan assets™ e (10:0) 39 11 (68)
US Medical Tt .
Present value of defined benefit obligation « " *~ _ ; 212y - (332) @01 399
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan abiities 23 T 17 12) 37N

In accordance wath the transitonal provisions for the amendments to [AS 19 — Employee Benefits, the disclosures above are

determined prospectively from 2006

An agreement was also reached wath the Scheme Trustees for the continuation of exasting funding levels
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34) Authorised and issued share capital

Ordinary shares of 10p each
Number Amount
mflion £m
Authonsed

1 Apnl 2007 and 31 March 2008 745.0 74.5
Ordinary shares of 10p each
Number Amount
rrlion £m

Allotted, called up and fully paid
1 Apnl 2007 5881 588
Issued under share option schemes 02 -
31 March 2008 5883 58.8

Executive share opticn scheme

At 31 March 2008, the total number of options outstanding was 18,411,341 exercisable berween 2008 and 2017 at subscnption
prices between 77 Op and 233 Op 25,000 options were exercised dunng the year and options over 2,966,397 lapsed Options

over 3,058,321 were granted during the year as shown below

Granted dunng  Exertise pnce

the year per share
Drate of grant Number Pence Date exercisable from Expiry date
August 2007 3,058,321 95 55 August 2010 August 2017

FKl share save scheme

At 31 March 2008, the total number of options outstanding was 4,029,882 exercisable between 2008 and 2010 at subscription
pnces between 60 Op and 98 25p No options over shares were granted during the year 457,230 shares were exercised dunng

the year and options aver 1,270,005 lapsed
Long term incentive plan (LTIP)

At 31 March 2008, the total number of options outstanding was 4,977,140 exercisable between 2008 and 2017 A total of
508,668 opuons lapsed during the year and 1,743,099 were granted dunng the year as shown below

Granted dunng  Exercise pnce

the year per share
Date of grant MNumber Perce Date exercisable from Expiry date
August 2007 1,743,099 - August 2010 August 2017
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35) Acquisitions

On 12 November 2007 the Group acquired the business and assets of Hunslet-Barclay Ltd for a total consideration of £2 3
mulhon mclusive of costs of £6 2 muillion The fair value of net assets acquired was £1 7 mutlion and goodwill ansing was £0 6
mulhon The Company’s pnncipal actvity 1s multple umit and coach refurbishment mn the rail dustry From the date of
acquisiion, Hunslet-Barclay Ltd has contnbuted £1 8 mulhion revenue and £(0 7) million to the Group’s profit before taxation

and finance costs/mcome

The aggregate book and faur values of the net assets of the acquisitions at the relevant date of acquisition were as follows

Fawr value Fair value

Book values adjustments 1o Group

Em £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 28 (10) 18
Inventories ’ 03 - 03
Payables S 02) 02) 04
Net assets acquured at fair value 29 12 17
Goodwall arising on acqusition 06
Total consideration 23

Satisfied by~

Cash paid net of costs 23

The fair value adjustments relate to the valuation of property by external valuers and the recogmtion of certain warranty costs

Goodwill arose on the acquisition as the cniteria for the recogmition of intangible assets were not met at the date of acquisition

and goodwall represents the anucipated future operating synergies from the combinations
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36) Reconcihation of movement in equity

Share-
Share Capital based
Share premium  redempton Own Retamed Exchange paymenis Hedging Minonty Total
capital aceount reserve shares eamings reserve accrual reserve interests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m Em £m £m 1

Asat 1 Apni 2007 588 1591 20 (24) 663 “n 36 10 12 2799
Actuaral gam on defined
benefit pensions and other
post-retirement benefits - - - - 555 - - - — 555
Taxation on actuanal gan
on defined benefit penstons
and other post-refrrement
benefits - - - - (248) - - - - (24 8)
Exchange differences on
retranslation of net assets of
subsidhanes and loans - - - - - 253 - - - 253
Dividends - - - = (264 - - - - (264)
(Loss)profit for the year - - — - (266 5) - - - 04 (266 1)
Share-based payments - — - - - 09 - - 99
Exchange differences
transferred lo mcome
statement m respect of
disposals - - - - - 02 - - - 02
Premuium on shares 1ssued - 01 - - - - - - - 0l
Transfer between reserves
re share-based options - - - - 10 - (10) - - -
As at 31 March 2008 588 1592 20 29 {194.9) 158 35 10 16 46
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36) Reconciliation of movement in equity (continued)

Share-
Share Capiital based
Share premium  redempbon Crem Retaned Exchange payments Hedging Minority Total
capital accou reserve shares e2amings reserve acgrual reserve interests equity
Em Em Em £m £m £rn £m fm £m £m

Asat 1 Apnl 2006 584 1564 20 (26) 358 66 45 02} 11 2620
Actuanal gam on defined
benefit pensions and other
post-renrement benefits - - - - 218 - - - - 2t 8
Taxatron on actuanal gan
on defined benefit pensions
and other post-retirement
benefits - - - - (135) - - - - (135)
Exchange differences on
retranslation of net assets of
subsidianies and loans - - - - - (16 9) - - - (169)
Net gamns/(losses) on cash
flow hedges - - - - - - - 16 - 16
Taxation on net
gams/(losses) on cash flow
hedges - - - - - - - 04) - ©4)
Dividends - - - - (263) - - - - (263)
Profit for the year - - - - 464 - - - 02 466
Share-based payments - - - - - - 14 - - 14
Exchange differences
transferred to Income
statement i respect of
disposals - - - - - 06 - - - 06
Premmum on shares 1ssued 04 27 - - - - - - - 31
Own shares movement - - - 02 02 - - - - _
(Orher movement - - - - - - - - ©n ©1)
Transfer between reserves
re share-based options - - — - 23 - k) - - -
As at 31 March 2007 588 1591 20 24) 663 57 36 10 12 2799
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36) Reconcitiation of movement in equity (continued)

Captal redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve arose when the Company redeemed shares wholly out of distributable profits
Own shares

Own shares relate to shares of the Company held by the FKI ple Employee Benefit Trust which are transferred to employee
option scheme hoiders on exercise of their options The costs of funding and admimsterng the scheme are charged to the
mcome statement of the Company

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences ansing from the transtation of financial statements of foreign
operations It also meludes the effect of translation of habihities that hedge the Group’s net investiment 1n foreign subsidianes

Share-based payments

IFRS 2 requures that an expense for share-based payments be recogmsed in the mcome statement based on the fair value at the
date of grant This expense 1s recognised over the vesting period of the options A share-based payment accrual 1s recogrised as
part of equity

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve compnses the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging
wnstrurnents that are determuned to be an effective hedge

37) Share-based payments

Dnsclosures of the share-based payments offered to employees are set out below In accordance with the transitional provisions

of IFRS 2, the Group has recogrused an expense n respect of all equuty settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had
not vested on or before ! Apnl 2004

The charge to the income statement in respect of share-based payments for the year ended 31 March 2008 was £0 9 mullion
{(a) Share option scheme

The Group operates an executive share option scheme  All executive options granted up to and including 31 March 2008 may
only be exercised subject to a performance condition that the Group's growth m earmings per share must exceed the UK retail
price index by 9% or more over a three year peniod, subject to re-testing in subsequent years from a roling base The re-testing
condition was removed for options granted after April 2004 The contractual lifetime of the options 1s ten years

For options granted from 1 April 2006 none will vest for an earmings per share less than the retail pnce mdex plus 12% over the
three years movement penod For earnings per share at or greater than retail price index plus 12% awards wall vest on a sraight-
line basis Details of the vesting levels are mcluded m the Remuneranon report.

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 31 March 2008 15 87p to 116 5p (2007 87pto 116 5p)

The options exercised dunng the year relate to options exercised by employees of disposed compames and employees made
redundant
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37) Share-based payments {(continued)
(a) Share option scheme (continued)

The fair value 1s charged to the income statement over the vesting period and 1s estimated on the date of the grant by Hewitt
Associates Limuited using the binomal pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions Assumptions are made
for each separate grant but weighted averages have been disclosed because share options were granted at different dates within

certain years
Years ended 31 March
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted Wenghted Weighted Weighted
average average average average average average
Rusk free interest rate . 531% 470% 4 18% 524% 403% 445%
Expected volatihty 250%  250% 250% 250%  250% 25 0%
Expected dividend yield " 4.0% -40% 32% 32% 32% 32%
Expected option hife (years) 4 4 6 6 6 6
Fair value (pence) 17.9p 19 2p 20 0p 26 Op 21 6p 19 5p

Details of the share options outstanding dunng the year are as follows

Year ended 31 March 2008

Year ended 31 March 2007

Weighted Weghied

average average

Number of exercise Number of exercise

share options price  share opbons price

000’'s £ 000's £

Qutstanding as at 1 April 11,823 096 10,837 093
Granted during the year 3,058 0.96 2,797 098
Forfeited dunng the year (628) (0.90) (975) 079
Exercised during the year (25) 0.7 (836) (077)
Lapsed during the year {1,210) (116) - -
Qutstanding as at 31 March 13,018 095 11,823 066

Optons exercisable at end of year

The share options outstanding at 31 March 2008 had a weighted average remaiming contractual life of 7 2 years (2007 7 5

years)
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37} Share-based payments {continued)
{b) Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

Participants receive annual conditional awards of shares 1n the Company which may vest only after the acluevement of certain
long-term performance conditions Participants may receive these shares, three years after the award, provided the performance

conditions are met.

Details of the performance conditions of the award granted dunng the year and for awards granted prior to that date are

provided in the Remuneration report

The farr value 1s charged to the income statement over the vesting penod and 15 esimated on the date of the grant by Hewtt
Associates Limuted, using the Monte Carlo pnicmg model and the following weighted average assumptions Assumptions are
made for each separate grant but weighted averages have been disclosed because options were granted at different dates within

certamn years
2008 2007 2006 2005
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weghted
averape average average average
Rusk free mterest rate 537% 4 78% 417% 5 16%
Expected volathity 25.0% 25 0% 250% 250%
Expected dividend yeld 4.0% 40% 32% 32%
Expected option life (years) 3 3 3 3
Faur value (pence) 73.1p 76 4p 77 7p 68 Op
Details of the LTIP’s outstanding during the year are as follows
2008 2007
Number of Number of
shares shares
000's 000s
Outstandimng as at 1 April 3,688 3,681
Granted duning the year 1,743 1,729
Forfeited dunng the year (83) (616)
Lapsed dunng the year (621) (1,106)
Outstanding as at 31 March 4,727 3,688

Optrons exercisable at end of year
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37) Share-based payments (continued)
(c) Save As You Eam scheme

Thus scheme was open to all UK employees who have completed six months service and who enter into an approved savings
contract for a term of three or five years The maximum amount which can be saved 15 £250 per month and the total savings
(including nterest) at the end of the term are available to purchase shares at 80% of their market value shortly before the start of

the savings contract

The fair value 15 charged to the income statement over the vesting period and 1s eshmated on the date of the grant by Hewatt
Associates Linuted, using the bimormal pricing model and the following weighted average assumptions Assumptions are made
for each separate grant but weighted averages have been disclosed because SAYE options were granted at different dates withun

certam years

No grants of SAYE options were made under the scheme dunng the years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007

Years ended 31 March

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Weighted Weghted Weighted Wesghted Wesghted

average average average average average

Rusk free nterest rate - - 4 30% 514% 3 86%
Expected volatility - - 250% 250% 250%
Expected dividend yield - - 32% 32% 32%
Expected option hfe (years) - - 38 39 41
Fair vatue (pence) - - 353p 329p 36 %

Details of the SAYE options outstanding dunng the year are as follows

Year ended 31 March 2008

Year ended 31 March 2007

Weighted Wesghted

Number average Number average

of SAYE exercise of SAYE exenise

options pnce oplions pree

000's £ 000's £

QOutstanding as at 1 April 5,538 0.74 10,157 069
Granted durning the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year (1,270) (0.86) (538) (080)
Exercised duning the year (238) (0.61) (4,081) (0 60}
Qutstanding as at 31 March 4,030 0.71 5,538 074
Opuons exercisable at end of year - - 130 060

The SAYE options outstanding at 31 March 2008 had a weighted average remaiung contractual Iife of 0 8 years (2007 17

years)

The options exercised dunng the year include 130,000 relating to the matunng of a scheme and the remamder to options
exercised by employees of disposed of subsidianes and employees made redundant

The range of exercise prices for opuons outstanding at 31 March 2008 1s 60p to 98 25p (2007 60p to 98 25p)
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38) Reconcihation of cash flow from operating activities

Year ended Year erdled

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Operating profit before special ttems — continutng operations . 1129 864
Operating profit before special items — discontifiued operaions . © 8.1 138
Depreciation - .y ) i B 24.3 250
Amortisation of intangible assets 7 R S L T .07 09
Loss/(gam) on disposal of plant and equipment e ) 0.2 -
Outflows relating to termmation and closure of busimesses S 80) 69
Outflows relating to strategic review and approach costs . 395 -
Share-based payments 0.9 14
Pensions and other post-retirement benefits assets and habilities . (21.4) 211
Increase mn inventorics 251) (225)
Increase i recervables ‘< (35.4) (46 5)
Increase in payables and provisions ' 14.9 79
Drvidend received from associated company . 0.2 02
Cash generated by gperations 68.8 386
39) Net debt
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2008 2067
£m £m
Cash and short-term deposits 1292 1255
Interest bearng loans and borrowings includmg finance leases and overdrafts
— non-current N (552.3) {462 3)
— current (.1 (234)
Denvative financial instruments 42.3 305
Cash net of interest bearing loans inchuded wathin assets and habihtes held for sale 15.6 -
Dervative financial instruments meluded withm assets and habihities held for sale s -

(362.8) (3299

40) Capital commitments

Amounts contracted for but not provided 1n the financial statements were as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

Em £m

Acqusition of property, plant and equipment 83 99
Acquisition of software costs defined as intangible assets 0.1 -
8.4 99

The Group’s joint venture had no capital commtments
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41) Contingent liabilities

The Group has contingent habilies amounting to £121 7 muthon (2007 £111 9 mullion), pnncipally representing the
guarantees given wn the ordinary course of business on behalf of the trading subsidianies on which no losses are anticipated In
addition, there are contingent hiabihties 1n the ordinary course of business i connection with the completion of contracts within
specification, ncluding responsibiliies for mamtenance

The Group 15 also the subject of vanous pending legal proceedings which have ansen 1n the normal course of business,
including ¢laims on contracts, product liability, environmental claimns and others The claums giving rise to such proceedings are
hkely to be mitigated by legal defences, insurance and third party indemmties While the outcome of some of these matters
caninot precisely be foreseen, the directors do rot beheve that these claims, after allowing for provisions already made, will have
a matenal adverse effect upon the Group’s financial results

42) Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and 118 subsidianies, which are related parties, have been elimnated on consolidation and
are not disclosed 1 thus note

The Group’s associate 158 Mediterranean Power Electne Company Lumited and no transactions were made between the Group
and 1ts associate dunng the years ended 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007

The Group’s jomnt venture 15 Brush Transformers Gulf LI.C and related party transactions for the year ended 31 March 2008 are
as follows

Balance

outstanding

*

Transaction 31 March

value 2008

£m £m

Sales of goods and services 0.7 0.1
Sales of fixed assets 01 —
Matenals purchased 0.8 -

In additon, dunng the year ended 31 March 2008 the Group loaned an amount of £0 3 mullion to BT Gulf Transformers LLC
Thus amount was outstanding at 31 March 2008

All transactions with related parties are on an arm’s length basis

The remuneration of the Directors, who are considered 10 be the key management personnel, 1s provided in the Remuneration
report

43) Events after the balance sheet date

On 22 Apnil 2008 the boards of Melrose PLC and FKI plc announced that they had agreed the terms of a recommended
proposal whereby Melrose PLC would acquire the entire 1ssued and to be 1ssued share capital of FKI plc On 28 May 2008 FKI

shareholders, at an extraordinary peneral meeting, approved the proposed takeover of the Company by Melrose PLC and also
approved the Scheme of Arrangement On 27 May 2008 Melrose PL.C shareholders also approved the proposed takeover

The Court Meeting to sanction the Scheme of Arrangement was held on 27 June 2008 The acquisition of FKI plc by Melrose
PLC was completed on 1 July 2008 and as a consequence the Group was de-hsted from the London Stock Exchange

On 1 July 2008 the ultimate parent undertaking of the Group became Melrose PLC, registered mn the United Kingdom at
Precision House, Arden Road, Alcesicr, B49 6HN
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of FKI plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of ~ We read other mformation contamed 1n the Annual Report,
FKI plc for the year ended 31 March 2008 which compnise the  and consider whether it 15 consistent wath the audited parent
balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 18 These parent company financial statements  Thus other information

company financial statements have been prepared under the compnises only the Chairman’s statement, the operating and

accounting pohcies set out theremn We have also audited the fi L review. the directors’ e o ot of
mformation in the directors’ remuneration report that 1s Clal review, report, P

described as having | audited the directors’ remuneration report  We consuder the
implications for our report if we become aware of any

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements  apparent musstatements or matenal inconsistencies with the

of FK1 ple for the year ended 31 March 2008 financial statements Qur responsibilittes do not extend to any

Ths report 1s made solely to the company's members, as a other information

body, i accordance with Section 235 of the Compares Act Basis of audit opinion
1985 OQur audit work has been undertaken so that we mught
state to the company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them 1n an auditors' report and for no other purpose
To the fullest extent permutted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibihity to anyone cther than the company and
the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opions we have formed

We conducted our audit 1n accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 1ssued by the
Auditing Practices Board An audit includes examunation, on
a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures mn the parent company financial statements [t also
mncludes an assessment of the significant estimates and

Judgments made by the durectors in the preparation of the
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors parent company financial statements, and of whether the

The directors’ responsibilities for preparng the Annual accounting policies are appropnate to the company’s

Report, the directors’ remmuneration report and the parent circumnstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed
company financial statements in accordance with applicable We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
Uruted Kingdom law and Accounting Standards (United mformation and explanations which we considered necessary
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out 1 order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give

m the Statement of Directors' Responsibilites reasonable assurance that the parent company financial

statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether
Our responsibihity 15 to audit the parent company financial caused by fraud or other wregulanty or error In formung our

statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report o gpimion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the

be audited mn accordance with relevant legal and regulatory presentation of information 1n the parent company financial
requiremnents and International Standards on Auditing (UK statements and the part of the directors’ remuneration report to
and Ireland) be audited

We report to you our opiruon as to whether the parent Opinion

company financial statements give a true and farr view and
whether the parent company financial statements and the part
of the directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been " the parent company financial statements give a true and

In our opuuon

properly prepared tn accordance with the Compares Act farr view, 1n accordance with Urnuted Kingdom Generally
1985 We also report to you whether in our opion the Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state of the parent
mformation given m the parent company directors' report 1s company’s affaurs as at 31 March 2008,

consistent with the financial statements The nformation *  the parent company financsal statements and the part of
given i the directors’ report wncludes that specific mformation the directors’ remuneration repott to be audited have
presented n the Operating and Fmancial Review that 1s cross been properly prepared in accordance with the

referred from the Business Review section of the directors' Compares Act 1985, and

report *  thenformation given in the directors' report 15 consistent

with the parent company financial statements
In addithon we report to you if, in our opimon, the company

has not kept proper accounting records, 1f we have not
recerved all the informanon and explanations we require for Emst & Young LLP Registered auditor

d
our audt, or if information specified by law regarding London

directors' remuneration and other transactions 1s not disclosed Z’y,’({ T %“7/ - /q

1 July 2008
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 March 2008

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
Note £m Em
Fixed assets
Tangible assets ' : . 03 03
Investments 1n subsidianes : . . 3 2,372.0 2,5629
S 23723 2,5632
Current assets C
Debtors due withmn one year 4 1,775.8 1,6615
Denvative financial assets due within one year 6 - 02
Dernvative financial assets due after more than one year 6 74.7 484
Cash and short-term deposits 31.7 145
1,8822  1,7246
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Bank and other borrowings 5 {78.8) (44 1)
Denvative financial habihities 6 ©.1) (15)
Other creditors 7 (3,1634) (3,3053)
(3,2423) (3,3509)
Net current liabilities (1,360 1)  (1,6263)
Total assets less current liabilities 1,012.2 9369
Creditors’ amounts falling due after more than one year -
Bank and other borrowings ' o .5 (510 2) 172)
Denvative financial habihities ) (34.4 (19 6)
467.6 5001
Provisions for Liabilities and charges . ' 8 an -
Net assets before pension hability 4659 500 1
Pension hability 9 2.2) 513)
Net assets 463.7 448 8
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 10,11 588 588
Share premum account 11 1592 1591
Capital redemption reserve I 20 20
Own shares 11 Q4 (24)
Share-based payments accrual 11 3s 36
Hedging reserve 11 - -
Profit and loss account 11 242.6 2277
Equity shareholders’ funds . 463.7 448 8

P Heiden — Director

These financial statements were approved by ﬂl% t July 2008 and signed on 1ts behalf by

N Bamford — Director

N T
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Notes to the Company financial statements

1) Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The financial statements of FKI plc are presented as required by the Comparues Act 1985 As permitted by the Act, the separate
financial statements have been prepared m accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Standards (“UK
GAAP”) using the histoncal cost convention except where certan financial instruments have been measured at fair value

The company has taken advantage of the exemption from adopting FRS 29 - (IFRS 7) Fmancial Instruments - Disclosures as
the company 15 a wholly owned subsidiary of FKI plc and the consohdated financial statements of FKI ple, whach are pubhcly
available, have adopted IFRS 7 - Fiancial Instruments - Disclosures

As permutted by Section 230 of the Compames Act 1985, the profit and loss account 15 not presented Under Financial
Reporting Standard 1, the Company 15 exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds that the
cash flows of the Company are mmcluded within the pubhished consolidated financial statements

The followmg accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing wath itemns considered matenal mn relation to the
financial statements, except as noted below

Foreign currency translation

Transactions mn foreign currencies are translated at the: foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary
assets and hatilities denomunated m foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Sterhing at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at that date All profits and losses on exchange are credited or charged to the profit and loss account

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any impatrment in value Depreciation 15

calculated on all assets, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each
asset on a straight-line basis over their estunated useful lives as follows

Plant and machinery — heavy production 15 years

— other 10 years
Office equipment 5 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 3to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equupment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items

The gain or toss ansing on the disposal or retirement of an asset 15 determuned as the difference between the sales proceeds, less
costs of disposal, and the carrymg amount of the asset and 15 recogmsed 1n the income statement

Leases

Assets obtamed under leases and hure purchase contracts which result 1n the transfer to the Company of substantially all the
nisks and rewards of ownerstup (finance leases) are capitalised as tangible fixed assets at the estmated present value of
underlying lease payments and are depreciated over their expected useful lives The capital elements of future lease obhigations
are recorded as habilities whulst the finance elements of the rental payments are charged to the ncome statement over the period

of the lease or hire purchase contract so as to produce a constant rate of charge on the outstanding balance of the net obligation
m each pened

Rentals pard under other leases {operating leases) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease
term

Investments

The Company’s mvestment in shares in group compames are stated at cost less provision for impairment
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L.

1) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Taxation

Current tax 15 provided at amounts expected to be pard, or recovered, using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s recognised, using the hiability method, on all tming differences, subject to the exceptions noted below, at the
balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and habihties and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes

Deferred tax in respect of taxable or deductible timing differences associated wath mvestments in subsidiaries 18 not recogmsed
where the timung differences can be controlled and 1t 1s probable that the armng differences wall not reverse m the foreseeable
future or mn the case of assets, taxable profit will be unavailable against the irmng differences, can be utihised

Deferred tax assets are recogrused for all deductible ttrming differences, carned forward unused tax assets and unused tax losses,
to the extent that 1t 1s probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible timung differences, and carmed
forward unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utthsed

Deferred tax 1s measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply m the perrods in which it 15 anticipated that the asset will be
reahised or the liability wall be settled, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date

Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dmndends unpaid at the balance sheet date are only recogmsed as a hability at that date to the extent that they are appropnately
authonsed and are no longer at the discretion of the Company Unpaid dividends that do not meet these criteria are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements

Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
(1) Defined contribution pension schemes

Pension costs for the Company’s defined contnbution pension schemes are recogmsed wathun operating profit at an amount
equal to the contnbutions payable to the scheme for the penod Any prepaid or outstanding coninbutions at the balance sheet
date are recogrused respectively as assets or Labliies witlun prepayments or zccruals

(in) Defined benefit pension schemes and other post-retirement benefits

Pension Liabilities are measured at thewr present value mn accordance wath actuanal assumptions that are updated at each balance
sheet date Pension assets are measured at fair value The pension hability or asset 1s recogrused in the balance sheet

Pension costs for the Company’s defined benefit pension schemes and other post-retirement benefits are recogmsed as follows

(a) Withun operating profit
» The current service cost ansing from employee service m the current penod,

¢ The prior service cost related to employee service 1in pnor penods ansmg in the current penod as a result of improvements
to benefits,

» Gans and losses ansing on unanticipated settlements or curtailments where the 1tem that gave nise to the settlement or
curtallment 1s recogrused withun operating profit,

(b) Withun other finance cost or mcome

¢ The interest cost on the habihues, calculated by reference to the scheme liabilities and discount rate at the beginning of the
period,

» The expected retum on assets, calculated by reference to the assets and their long-term expected rate of retum at the
beguinmng of the penod
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1) Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Withun the statement of recognised mcome and expense
¢ On the scheme assets — the difference between the expected and actual return on assets,

e On the scheme habilities — (a) the differences between the actuanal assumptions and actual expenence, and (b) the effect
of changes 1n actranal assumptions

Derwvative financial nstruments of hedge accounting

The Company uses dernivative financial mstruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate nisks ansing
from operational, financial and investment activities The Company does not use denivative financial instruments for specutative
purposes

As the Company accounts for its imnvesiments 1n subsidiaries and associates at cost 1n 1ts separate books, certamn denvative
mstruments could not be designated as the hedging mstrument 1n a net investment hedge in the Company accounts

Derivative financial instruments are recogmsed wutially at cost Subsequent to 1utial recogmition they are stated at fair value
The gain or loss on remeasurement to farr value 1s recogmsed immediately 1n profit or loss However, where denvatives qualify
for hedge accounting recogrution of any resultant gamn or loss depends on the nature of the item bemg hedged

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 15 determuned by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts

with simlar mawnty profiles The fair value of nterest rate swap contracts 1s determuned by reference to the present value of
the estimated future cash flows

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges, where they hedge the exposure to
changes in the fair value of a recogmsed asset or hiability; or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to vanability in cash

flows that 15 exther attnbutable to a particular nisk associated with a recogrused asset or hability or a highly probable forecasted
transaction

In relation to fair value hedges (eg interest rate swaps) which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from
remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value 1s recognised immediately mn the income statement Any gain: or loss on the
hedged 1tem attnbutable to the hedged nisk 1s recogrused as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged tem and
recogmsed m the income statement Where the adjustrent 15 to the carrying amount of a hedged nterest beanng financial
instrument, the adjustment 1s amortised to the net profit and loss such that 1t 1s fully amortised by maturity

In relation to cash flow hedges to hedge the exposure to vanability in cash flows which meet the conditions for hedge
accounting, the portion of the gan or loss on the hedging mstrument that 1s determuned to be an effective hedge 1s recogrused
directly to equity and the ineffecuve portion 15 recognised 1 net profit or loss

When the hedged firm commutment results in the recogmtion of an asset or hability, then, ai the time the asset or hability 1s
recogrused, the associated gains or losses that had previously been recognised i equity are included in the imtial measurement
of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the asset or lrability For cash flow hedges that do not result m the recogmtion
of an asset or a hability, the gains or losses that are recogmised n equuty are transferred to the iIncome statement m the same year
i which the hedged firm commitment affects the net profit and loss, for example when the future sale actually occurs

Hedge accounting 15 discontinued when the hedging mstrument expires or 1§ sold, termunated or exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting At that pomt 1n tune, any ¢umulative gan or loss on the hedging instrument recogrised w equity
15 kept 1 equuty until the forecasted transaction occurs If a hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gain or loss recogrused in equity 1$ transferred to net profit or loss for the year
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1) Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments

Certain employees (including directors) recerve remuneration 1 the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services m exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions’™)

The cost of equuty-settled transactions with employees 1s measured by reference to the fawr value at the date at which they are
granted The fair value 1s determuned by an external valuation. In vahung equty-settled transactions, no account 1s taken of any
performance conditions, other than condinons linked to the price of the shares of FKI plc (“market conditions™)

The cost of equity-settled transactions 1s recogrused, together with a correspondimng increase m equity, over the penod m which
the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(“vesting date”) The cumulative expense recogmsed for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date uniil the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting peniod has expired and the number of awards at that date based on the best available
estumate of the number of equity mstruments that wall ultimately vest

No expense 1s recogrused for awards that do not ulttmately vest, except for awards where vesting 1s conditional upon a market
condition, whuch are treated as vesting wrespective of whether or not the market condition 1s satisfied, provided that all other
performance conditions are satisfied

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a munmum, an expense 1s recogrsed as 1if the terms had not been
modified Inaddibon, an expense 1s recogrused for any increase m the value of the transaction as a result of the modification, as
measured at the date of modification

Where an equaty-settled award 1s cancelled, 1t 1s treated as 1f 1t had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not vet
recognised for the award 1s recogised immediately However, if a new award 1s substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that 1t 1s granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the ongnal award, as descnbed 1n the previous paragraph

The Company has an employee share incentive plan and an employee share trust for the granting of non-transferable options to
executives and semor employees Shares in the Company held by the employee share trust are presented in the balance sheet as
a deduction from equity

The Company has taken advantage of the transitional provisions of FRS 20 m respect of equity-settled awards and has applied
FRS 20 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested on or before 1 Apnl 2004

2) Tangible fixed assets

Piant,
equipment
and vehicles Total
£ £m
Cost
1 Apnil 2007 12 12
Addions 02 02
Dhsposals ©1 0N
31 March 2008 13 1.3
Deprectation
1 April 2007 . 09 09
Charge for the year ‘ 02 02)
Disposals . 01 01
31 March 2008 s (10) (1.0
Net book value 31-March 2008 < P 03 03
Net book value 31 March 2007 Lo 03 03
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3) Investments in subsidianes

Subsidiary
undertakings
£m
Cost
1 Apnl 2007 and 31 March 2008 2,5629
Provisions
1 April 2007 . -
Imparment recogmsed . (1909
31 March 2008 i (190.9)
Net book value 31 March 2008 ) E . ) 2,372.0
Net book value 31 March 2007 - 2,5629
A list of pnincipal subsidiary undertakings 1s give on page 99 of the Group consolidated financaal staternents
4) Debtors receivable within one year
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakangs 1,774.6 1,660 4
Other prepayments and accrued income 1.2 11

1,7758 16615

§5) Bank and other borrowings

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts 103.2 441
Other loans 4858 4172
589.0 4613

The total borrowings of the Company are repayable as follows
Bark loans and overdrafts Other loans
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2008 2007 2003 2007
£m £m Em £m
Withm one year or on demand 78.8 441 - -
Between one and two years 24.4 - 485.8 -
Between two and five years - - - 4172
In five years or more - — - _
103.2 441 485.8 4172

At 31 March 2008 the guaranteed bank borrowings of US Dollar 50 0 nuilion (2007 US Dollar 25 0 mullion) were drawn under
the Company’s £120 0 nulhon multi-currency revolving credit facihity In May 2008 the maturity on thus facility was extended
from ! Apnl 2009 to 2 December 2009 The Company’s subsidiaries, FKI Engineering Lumuted and FKI Industres Inc , act as
guarantors to this facihity Drawdowns under this new facility bear mterest ai LIBOR plus a margin of 1 5% nsing to 1 75%
with effect from 19 June 2008, 2 00% wath effect from 1 October 2008 and 2 25% with effect from 2 April 2009
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6) Denvative financial instruments

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
Debtors fallng due wathun one year - 062
Debtors falling due after more than one year 74.7 484
Creditors amounts falling due within one year (0.1) (15)
Creditors amounts falling due after one year (34.4) (19 6)
40.2 275
31 March 2008 31 March 2007
Net Net
Derivative Derivative derivative Denvauve Denvative denvatve
financial financial financial financial financial financial
assets habilities  instruments assets habilities instruments
£m £m £m £m em Em
Derivative financial instruments — non-current
Cash flow hedges 32 (0.1) 3.1 - (04) 04
Farr value hedges 522 29 493 - (139) (139)
Net mvestment hedges 191 (31.4) {123) 472 (53) 419
Other hedpes 02 - ¢2 12 - 12
47 (34.4) 403 48 4 (196} 288
Derivative financial instruments - current
Other hedges - o1 (0.1} 02 (15) (13)
- 0.1 (0.1} 02 (15) (13)
74.7 (34.5) 40.2 486 (21 1) 275

The Company adopted FRS 25 and FRS 26 wath effect from 1 Apnl 2005 On thus date a number of denvative financial
wnstruments held by the Company qualified as effective cash flow, fair value or net investment hedges

Cash flow hedges
At 31 March 2008 the Company held two cross-currency swaps that were designated as cash flow hedges These swaps hedge

the cash flow vanability arising on movements in the Euro  Sterling exchange rate and protect Euro 30 0 mullion of the Euro
600 mulhion Eurobond The terms of the contracts are

Currency Prncipal Matunty Interest rate
Cross-currency swaps
Company pays Sterling 20 7 mullion 22 February 2010 8% fixed, payable semu-annually
Company recetves Euro 30 0 million 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed, recervable annually

There have been no changes in the above swaps during the course of the year
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6) Denvative financial instruments {continued)

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of copper swap contracts that were designated as cash flow hedges These swap
contracts lock the Company 1nto fixed copper prices to protect agamst fluctuations in the market price of copper The terms of
these contracts are

Cormmodity Total quantty Matunty Pncing

Commodity swaps .
Company pays Copper 3,200 tonnes Apnl 2008 to March  Month-end settlements
2009 at fixed price of US
Dollar 6,680 per tonne
Company recerves Copper 3,200 tonnes April 2008 to March Month-end settlements
2009 at the average LME
price for each month

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge against the sk of exchange
rate fluctuatons Those forward foreign exchange contracts that were accounted for as cash flow hedges are set out below

Cumency Pnrcipal Matunty Exchange rate
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Company pays US Dollar 43 0mlhon Vanous dates between Various US Dollar
April 2008 and April  Sterhing exchange rates
C Sterhn; 21 9 mulls o
ormpany recetves cring on 2009  ranging from 3193 to
. $201
Company pays Canadian . 3 5 milbon . Canadian Dollar
Doliar .- June 2008  Sterling exchange rate
Company receives Sterling . 1 7 midhon ' of 202
Company pays Sterhing 153 mlhon Vanous dates between Vanous Czech Koruna
Company recerves Czech . 5023 mulls August 2008 and  Sterling exchange rates
mpany v Koif:a on November 2008  ranging from 31 58 to
3439
Company pays Euro 90 mllion Various datesbetween Various Sterling Furo
May 2008 and exchange rates ran
C Sterl 6 2 mully Y & ging
Oripeny recelves cring on August 2008 from 0 6859 to 0 6885
Company pays US Dollar 41 5million Varous dates between Various US Dollar
Apnl 2008 and Damsh Krone exchange
C Danish 218 0 mulh P &
ompany recetves . on April 2009 rates ranging from 4 71
to 543

The Company also holds a number of other forward foreign exchange contracts which are not designated as cash flow hedges

These contracts are used to hedge foreign currency denormunated transactions Changes in the fair value of these contracts are
booked to profit and loss
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6) Derivative financial instruments (continued)
Farr value hedges

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of cross-currency swaps and mierest rate swaps that were designated as fair
value hedges These swaps hedge agamst changes in mterest rates affectng the fair value of Euro 544 mulhon of the Euro 600
rmllion fixed rate Eurobond The terms of the contracts are

Cumency Principal Matunty Interest rate

Cross-currency swaps - T N
Company pays " Sterlng ,414fmlhon ' 22Febfuary2010 3 month LIBOR plus
- , - RPN T o ' 3%, payable quarterly
Company receives Euro 60 0mullion . - 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed,
. .. recewvable anmually
Company pays Sterling 293 9 mullion 22 February 2010 6 month LIBOR plus
3%, payable semi-
. annually
Company receives Euro 426 O mullion 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed,
receivable annually

Interest rate swaps

Company pays Euro -58 0 rmulhon 22 February 2010 3 month EURIBOR
plus 3 46%, payable
quarterly
Company receives Euro 58 0 mullion 22 February 2010 6 625% fixed,

receivable annually

The above wnterest rate swaps leave a residual Euro 58 mtllion of Buro foreign exchange exposure whuch the Company has
designated as an effective net mvestment hedge of its investments in the Eurozone

There have been no changes 1n the above swaps during the course of the year
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6) Denvative financiat instruments (continued)

Net investment hedges

At 31 March 2008 the Company held a number of cross-currency swaps that were designated as net investment hedges of
mvestments i non-Sterling subsidary companies These swaps protect against changes n exchange rates affecting the Sterling
value of subsidianes that are located in the Unuted States, Canada, Denmark and the Eurozone The terms of the contracts are

Currency Prncipal Matunty Interest rate
Cross-currency swaps — US Dollars
Company pays US Dollar 435 7 muihon 22 February 2010 3 to 6 months LIBOR
plus 2 55% to 4.49%
Company receives Sterling 224 9 mullion 22 February 2010 3 to 6 month LIBOR.
plus 3%
Company pays US Doltar 29 4 mullion 22 February 2010 8 51% fixed, payable
semi-annually
Company recerves Sterling -+ 207 milbon 22 February 2010 8% fixed, recervable
- serm-annually
Cross-currency swaps — Canadian Dollars
Company pays Canadian 45 1 mulhon 22 February 2010 3 month CAD BA rate
Dollar plus 3 65%
Company recetves Sterling 19 3 mullion 22 February 2010 3 month LIBOR
plus 3%
Cross-currency swaps — Danish Krone
Company pays Danish 981 4 mulion 22 February 2010 6 month CIBOR
Krone plus 3 54%
Company receives Sterling 91 1 mullion 22 February 2010 6 month L.IBOR
plus 3%

There have been no changes n the above swaps duning the course of the year, other than

(1) the maturity of a cross-currency swap under which the Company paxd 7 21% fixed on Euro 15 0 mullion and received

Sterling 8% fixed on Sterling 10 4 mulhon, and

(1) an increase of US Dollar 72 5 mullion in swap principal

The Company also holds a number of other mterest swaps that de not qualify for hedge accounting under FRS 26 These
LIBOR-n-arrears swaps reduce the Company's exposure to floating US Dollar interest rates, on a total of US Dollars 133 7
mullion pnncipal through a combination of interest rate caps and spreading of reference dates for interest rate resets Changes in
the fair value of these swaps are booked to profit or loss There have been no changes in these swaps dunng the year
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7) Other creditors
31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m Em
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3,126.8 32787
Other taxes and social securty 1.8 03
Accruals and deferred income 29.3 2t 6
Other creditors 55 47
3,163.4 33053
8) Provisions for liabilities and charges
Deferred tax
£m
At 1 Aprid 2007 —
Amount charged to income statement 17
At 31 March 2008 1.7
Deferred taxation, provided n the financial statements, 18 m respect of
2008 2007
£m £m
Shoert-term timing differences 1.7 -

9) Pension hability

The Company 1s a participating member of the FKI Company Pension Scheme whach 1s the main defined benefit scheme 1 the
United Kingdom The date of the most recent, full actuanal valuation was 31 December 2005

The fair value of the Scheme’s assets, the present value of 1ts lrabilities and the net pension hability are as follows

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Equities 114.2 168 6

Bonds 3705 3033

Other 19.2 158

Total far value of Scheme assets 503.9 4877
Present value of Scheme hiabilities (506.9) (561 8)
Deficit in the Scheme 3.0) (74 1)

Related deferred tax asset 08 228
Net pension habihty " @22) (513)
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9) Pension liability {continued)

The movernent m the deficit n the Scheme during the year was as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007
£m £m
1 April N (74.1) {1103)
Charged wathin operating profit T - 5.1) (66)
Charged withm other net finance charges S AT (1.0} 3N
Recogrused withm the statement of total recognised gains and losses v ’ 50.3 152
Employer contributions 269 313
31 March ’ . (3.0 (4 1)
10) Called up share capital
Ordinary shares of 10p each
Nurnber Amount
rmilkon £m
Authonsed . !
1 Apni 2007 and 31 March 2008 745.0 74.5
Ordmary shares of 10p each
Number Amount
mullion £m
Allotted, called up and fully paid
1 Apnil 2007 . . 5881 588
Issued under share option schemes . R 02 -
31 March 2008 ) 588.3 58.8

Executive Share Option scheme

At 31 March 2008, the total number of options outstanding was 18,411,341 exercisable between 2008 and 2017 at subscription
prices between 77 Op and 233 Op 25,000 options were exercised during the year and options over 2,966,397 lapsed Options
over 3,058,321 were granted dunng the year as shown below

Granted dunng  Exercise pnce

the year per share
Date of grant Number Pence Date exercisable from Expiry date
August 2007 3,058,321 9555 August 2010 August 2017

FKi Share Save scheme

At 31 March 2008, the total number of options was 4,029 882 exercisable between 2008 and 2010 at subscription prices
between 60 Op and 98 25p No opuons over shares were granted during the year 457,230 shares were exercised during the year
and options over 1,270,005 lapsed

Long Term Inventive Plan {LTIP)

At 31 March 2008 the total number of options outstanding was 4,977,140 exercisable between 2008 and 2017 A total of
508,668 options lapsed durmg the year and 1,743,099 were granted during the year as shown below

Granted dunng  Exercise pnce

the year per share
Date of grant Number Pence Date exercisable from Expiry date
August 2007 1,743,099 s ;5 _August 2010 August 2017
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11) Share capital and reserves

Share Capita! Share-based
premum redemption Profit and loss payments Hedging
Share capital account reserve Own shares account accrual reserve Total equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Asat 1 Aprl 2007 588 1591 20 24 2277 36 - 448 §
Actuanal gain on defined
benefit pensions and - o, '
other post-retifement Ce SN
benefits net of tax - O T e 1. XN - - 288
Dividends - T /¥ - - (26 4)
Profit for the year - - - - 115 - - 115
Share-based payments - - - - - 09 - 09
Premuum on shares
1ssued - 01 - - - - - 01
Transfer between
reserves re share-based
options - - - - 10 (10) - -
As at 31 March 2008 58.8 159.2 20 2.9 2426 3s - 463.7
Asat 1 Apnl 2006 584 156 4 20 26) 1349 45 - 3536
Actuanal gan on defined
benefit pensions and
other post-retirement
benefits net of tax - - - - 50 - - 50
Net gains/{losses) on
cash flow hedges - - - - - - - -
Drvidends - - - - (26 3) - - (26 3}
Profit for the year - - ~ - 1120 - - 1120
Share-based payments - - - - - 14 - 14
Premmm on shares
1ssued 04 27 - - - — - 31
Own shares movement - - - 02 (02) - - -
Transfers between
reserves re share-based
options - - - - 23 23) - -
As at 31 March 2007 588 1591 20 24 2277 36 - 448 &
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12) Share-based payments

Disclosures of the share-based payments offered to employees are set out below In accordance with the transitional provisions

of FRS 20, the Company has recogrsed an expense m respect of al! equity settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that
had not vested on or before 1 April 2004

The charge to the mcome statement 1 respect of share-based payments for the year ended 31 March 2008 was £0 6 mullion
(a) Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

Participants receive annual conditional awards of shares in the Company which may vest only after the achievement of certan

long term performance conditions Participants may receive these shares, three years after the award, provided the performance
conditions are met.

Details of the performance conditions of the award granted durning the year and for awards granted prior to that date are
provided in the Remuneration report,

The fair value 18 charged to the mncome staternent over the vesting pertod and 1s estimated on the date of the grant by Hewint
Associates Limited, using the Monte Carlo pneing model and the following weighted average assumptions Assumptions are

made for each separate grant but weighted averages have been disclosed because options were granted at different dates wathin
certain years

2008 2007 2006 2005
Weighted Weighted Weghted Weighted
average Average average average

Rusk free interest rate 537% 478% 417% 516%

Expected volatility 25.0% 25 0% 250% 250%

Expected dividend yield 4.0% 4 0% 32% 32%

Expected option hife (years) 3 3 3 3

Faur value (pence) T2.4p 76 4p 17 7p 68 Op

Details of the LTIP’s outstanding duning the year are as follows

2008 2007
Number of Number of
shares shares
000's 000's

Qutstanding as at 1 Apnl 3,688 3,681

Granted during the year 1,743 1,729

Forfeited during the year (83) {616)
Exercised during the year - -
Lapsed dunng the year {621) (1,106)
Qutstanding as at 31 March 4,727 3,688

Options exercisable at end of year - -

(b} Save As You Earn scheme

Thus scheme was open to all UK employees who have completed six months service and who enter mto an approved savings
contract for a term of three or five years The maximum amount whach can be saved 15 £250 per month and the total savings

{(including interest) at the end of the term are available to purchase shares at 80% of their market value shortly before the start of
the savings contract.

The fair value 1s charged to the income statement over the vesting period and 15 estimated on the date of the grant by Hewtt
Assecciates Limuted, using the bimomial pncing model and the following weighted average assumptions  Assumptions are made

for each separate grant but weighted averages have been disclosed because SAYE options were granted at dhfferent dates
within certain years

No grants of SAYE options were made under the scheme dunng the years ended 31 March 2008 and 3 1 March 2007
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12) Share-based payments (continued)

Years ended 31 March

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Welghted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average average average

Rusk free interest rate - - 431% 513% 384%
Expected volatility - - 250% 25 0% 250%
Expected dividend yield - - 32% 32% 32%
Expected option hife (years) - - 43 37 39
Faur value (pence) - - 353p 324p 36 5p

Details of the SAYE options outstanding dunng the year are as follows

Year ended 31 March 2008 Year ended 31 March 2007

Welghted Weghted

Number average Number average

of SAYE exercise of SAYE exercise

options price opbons pnce

000's £ 0C0's £

Qutstanding as at 1 Apnl 256 0.73 396 071
Granted during the year - - - -
Forfeited during the year 40 (0.98) (36) (0 80)
Exercised during the year - . , - - (104) (0 60)
Qutstanding as at 31 March c 0216 0.68 256 073

Options exercisable at end of year ; - -

The SAYE opucns oulstanding at 31 March 2008 had a weighted average remamung contractual Lfe of 1 O years (2007 17
years)

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 31 March 2008 1s 60p to 98 25p (2007 60p to 98 25p)

(c) Share option scheme

The Group operates an executive share option scheme  All executive options granted up to and mncluding 31 March 2008 may
only be exercised subject to a performance condition that the Group’s growth 1n eamungs per share must exceed the UK retail

pnce tndex by 9% or more over a three year penod, subject to retesting in subsequent years from a rolling base The retesting
condition was removed for options granted after Apnl 2004 The contractual hfetime of the options 1s ten years

For options granted from 1 Apnl 2006 none will vest for an earnings per share less than the retail price index plus 12% over the
three years movement pertod For earmungs per share at or greater than retail pnce index plus 12% awards will vest on a straight-
line basis Details of the vesting levels are included n the Remuneratuon report.

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at 31 March 2008 1s 87p to 116 5p (2007 87p to 116 5p)
The options exercised dunng the year relate to options exercised by employees made redundant

The farr value 15 charged to the ncome statement over the vesting pened and 1s esumated on the date of the grant by Hewatt
Associates Lumited using the binomial pncing model and the following weighted average assumpuons Assumptions are made

for each separate grant but weighted averages have been disclosed because share options were granted at different dates within
certain years
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12) Share-based payments (continued)

Years ended 31 March

2008 2007 2008 2005 2004 2003
Weighted Wesghted Wesghted Wesghted Wesghted Weaghted

average average average average average average

Rusk free interest rate S531% 4.70% 74 18% 524% 4 03% 4 45%
Expected volatility 250% .~ 250% 25'0% 250%- 250% 250%
Expected dividend yield -4.0% . 40% . -3 2% " 32% 32% 32%
Expected option life (vears) 4 T, 4 ‘6 6 6 6
Farr value (pence) 17.9p 19'2p 20 0p 26 Op 21 6p 19 5p

Details of the share options outstanding dunng the year are as follows

Year ended 31 March 2008 Year ended 31 March 2007

Waighted Weghted

Number average Number average

of share exercise of share exercise

opuions pnce oplons price

000's £ 000 s £

Outstanding as at 1 Apnl 11,823 0.96 10,837 093
Granted duning the year 3,058 0.96 2,797 098
Forfeited dunng the year (628) (0.90) (975) 079
Exercised dunng the year 25) 077 (836) 077
Lapsed during the year 1,210) (1.16) — -
Cutstanding as at 31 March 13,018 0.95 11,823 096

Options exercisable at end of year - -

The share options outstanding at 31 March 2008 had a weighted average remamning contractual life of 7 2 years (2007 7 5

years)
13) Dvidends

The amounts recogrused as distnbutions to equity holders in the year were

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March
2008 2007

£m £m

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2007 of 3p (2006 3p) per ordinary share 17.6 175
Intenim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of | 5p (2007 1 5p) per ordinary share 88 88
26.4 263

The proposed final dividend 1s subject to approval of the Scheme of Armangement by the court and m accordance wath IFRS has
not been mcluded as a Liability as at 31 March 2008 Ttus propoesed final dividend wall be paid on or before 15 July 2008 to

ordinary shareholders on the register at 27 June 2608

Year ended Year ended

Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2008 of 3p (2007 3p) per ordinary share

31 March 31 March
2008 2007

£m fm

17.6 176
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14) Directors’ remuneration

The directors are remunerated by FKI plc for thewr services to the Company as a whole Information covermg directors’
remuneration 15 given in the Remuneration report of the Group

15) Contingent habilities

The Company has contingent liabilities of £19 2 mullion (2007 £20 4 mullion) 1n respect of guarantees of substdiary
undertakangs bankang oblhigations In additon, the Company has guaranteed £40 5 mulhion (2007 £49 7 mullion) of US Dollar
fixed rate guaranteed semor notes 1ssued on behalf of FKI Industries Inc

The Company 1s also the subject of vanous pending legal proceedings which have anisen in the normal course of business,
mcluding claims on contracts, product hiability, environmental claums and others The claims giving nse to such proceedings are
likely to be mutipated by legal defences, insurance and thurd-party indemmunes Whale the outcome of some of these matters
cannot precisely be foreseen, the directors do not believe that these claims, after allownng for provisions already made, will have
a matenal adverse effect upon the Company’s financial results

‘Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies wathun 1ts
Group, the Company considers these to be msurance arrangements and treats the guarantee contract as a contingent lrability
unti] such time as 1t becomes probable that the Company wall be required to make payments under the guarantee

16) Leasing commitments

Annual comnutments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 March 31 March

2008 2007

£m £m

Not later than one year = -
After one year but not more than five years . 0.2 01
After five years - -
0.2 01

17) Other information
(a) Auditors remuneration for the statutory audit 15 £0 4 mullion (2007 £0 5 mullion)
(b} Operating lease rentals charged to the profit and loss account 15 £0 2 mullion (2007 £0 1 trullion)

18) Events after the balance sheet date

On 22 Apnl 2008 the boards of Melrose PLC and FKI plc announced that they had agreed the terms of a recommended
proposal whereby Melrose PLC would acquure the entire 1ssued and to be 1ssued share capital of FKI plc On 28 May 2008 FK1
shareholders at an extracrdmary general meetng, approved the proposed takeover of the Company by Melrose PLC and also
approved the Scheme of Arrangement On 27 May 2008 Melrose PLC shareholders also approved the proposed takeover

The Count Meetng to sanction the Scheme of Arrangement was held on 27 June 2008 The acquisition of FKI ple by Melrose
PLC was completed on 1 July 2008 and as a consequence the Group was de-hsted from the London Stock Exchange

On 1 July 2008 the uitmate parent undertaking of the Group became Melrose PLC, registered m the United Kingdem at
Precision House, Arden Road, Alcester, B49 6HN
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Principal subsidiary undertakings

Lifing Products and Services group

Acco Materal Handling Solutions (USA)T
Bndon Intemational Eymited

Bndon New Zealand Lirmited (New Zealand)
Bndon Amencan Comporation (USA)

BTS Drahtseile GmbH (Gernmany)

Crosby Canada (Canada)t

NV Crosby Europe (Belgium)

The Crosby Group Inc (USA)

The Hams Waste Management Group Inc (USA)
Welland Forge (Canada)t

Energy Technology group

Brush Electrical Machines Limited*

Brush HMA BV (Netherlands)

Brush SEM s r o (Czech Republic)

Brush Tractiont

Brush Barclay

Brush Transformers Limited

Hamington Generators International Lumuted
Hawker Siddeley Switchgear Limuted
Marelli Motoni SpA (Ttaly)

Whipp & Bournet

FKI Logistex group

FKI Logistex North Amenca Inc (USA)
FKI Logistex A/S {Denmark}

FKI Logistex Limuted

Industry General Corporation (USA)
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Hardware group

Hickory Hardware, Inc (USA)

Rhombus Casters Malaysia Bhd (Malaysia)
Rhombus Rollen Holding GmbH (Germany)
Truth Hardware Corporation (USA)
Weber-Knapp Company (USA)

Other

FKI Engineenng Limuted*

FKI Industries Canada Limited (Canada)

FKI Industries Inc (USA)

West House Insurance Limted (Guernsey)*

All comparoes are wholly owned

Shares of companes marked * are held directly by FKI ple

t For statutory purposes these businesses operate a5 dnasions of other FKI Group
companics

All compames are incorporated and operate in Great Bnitain
and are registered in England and Wales unless otherwise
stated Companies located overseas operate principally in the
country of incorporation

A full ist of subsidiary compamnes incorporated in Great
Britain and registered in England and Wales will be lodged
with the Registrar of Compames

As permitted by Section 231 (5) of the Compamues Act 1985,
only principal operating subsidiary undertakings have been
shown above

‘Thz Anrwal report has been prepared solely o provide additonal mformaton i
shareholders as a body |1 should not be rebed upon by any othes party or for any other
purpase

This Annual report contawms forwand looking statements based on current expectations of
management at the tune of approval of this repon. Forward looking statements by their
ramure nvolve a number of nsks uncertamties and assumptions and they should be treated
with eaubon due w the wtherent uncertaimbes, nchsding both econgmic and business nsk
factors, underhying such forward lookutg tnformabeon

The Group acoepts no obligation 1o publicly revise or update these forward ookang
stalements or adjust them 1o future events or developments whether as a result of new
nformanon, future events or otherwise except 1o the extent legally requued.




